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Corporate Profile

L.K. Technology Holdings Limited is the world's largest die-
casting machines manufacturer. The Group engages in the design,
manufacture and sale of three product lines, i.e. hot chamber and
cold chamber die-casting machines, plastic injection moulding
machines and computerised numerical controlled (CNC) machining
centres. The Group has manufacturing bases in Shenzhen,
Zhongshan, Ningbo, Shanghai, Fuxin and Kunshan in the PRC and
a R&D centre in Taiwan. To capture overseas markets, the Group
acquired Idra Ssl, one of the world’'s top die-casting machine
manufacturers, in 2008. The Group also operates a casting factory
in Fuxin for the production of cast iron/steel components.
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Chairman’s
Statement

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Dvrectors of LK. Technology Holdings Limited, | hereby present to you the
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The macro economic environment has been undergoing rapid and significant changes during the year. In
face of the global financ'al crisis in the frrst half of the year, many equipment manufacturers, ncluding
the Group, have experienced sharp drop in orders or postponement in deliveries, led to slump in sales.
However, as the market began to see the effects brought about by the vigorous economic stimulus
measures from the governments of different countries, many countries started to show different levels
of rebound in the second half of the year. As the leader of China’s die-casting machines industry, the
Group has aggressively captured the opportunity of revival China’s economy, and our orders have recorded
manth-on-month increase. Our turnover increased significantly in the second half of the year, up 66%
when compared with that of the first half of the year. Meanwhile, our resutts have also seen improvement
and recorded a profit on whole year basis.

Turnover for the year amounted to HK$1,408,364,000, representing an increase of approximately 18% as
compared to HK$1,192,487,000 iast year. Profit attributable to tne equity holders of the Company was
HK$20,323,000, a significant improvement when compared with a loss of HK$43,671,000 of last year,
achieving turnaround from loss-making to profit-mak.ng

During the f:nancial cr.sis, the Group has taken strategic measures with an aim to be benefited from the
growth potentials expected to arise after the economic revival. We have achieved breakthroughs on the
R&D of our three main products, namely die-casting machines, plastic ‘njection moulding machines and
computerised numerical controlled (CNC) machines

In respect of die-casting machines, we have undergone new model upgrade and optimisation of design,
including the areas of operating efficiency, level of automation, maneuverability, energy saving and
environmental protection. Such optimisation was to enhance the performance of our die-casting machines,
so as to help our customers to reduce their overall production cost. In addition, we have also developed
four major computerised control systems, namely “LK-ADVANCE", “LK-CAST", "LK-NET” and "LK-
MONITOR". These systems can help our customers to achieve automation, intelligentisation, integration
and remote control of ther production management under large-scale production and increase the
competitiveness of products.

For plastic injection moulding machines, our servo-driven energy saving plastic injection moulding machine
has passed the examination by the Chinese national competent authorities, achieved the “National Grade
1 Energy Saving”~ standard and has gained a leading position in the industry. In addition to our first-in-the-
world nano-standard upward injection high precision plastic micro-injection moulding machine which has
been awarded the “Creation Prize” at the China International Industry Fair and the "Gold Medal Award”
at the International Exhibition of Inventions held at Geneva, Switzerland, we have also introduced a large
tonnage two-platen plastic injection moulding machine and a second generation direct-clamp plastic
inject:on moulding machine to the market
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Chairman’s
Statement

For computerised numerical controlled (CNC) machines, our "TC510" and "TC710" models continued
to be well received by the market. We have also introduced other new models, such as “TC1200" and
"MV-1680".

R&D and introduction of new products has fostered the rapid growth of our plastic injection moulding
machines and CNC machines, which are the two main growth areas of our business

In addition to our three major subsidiaries Shenzhen Leadwell, Shanghai Atech and Zhongshan LK which
have been recognised by the State as "Advanced Technology Enterprises”, another subsidiary company
Ningbo {.K. Tech. has also been recognised as “Advanced Technology Enterprises”.

Look forward to the year ahead. the macro economic environment will still be turbulent and challenging.
The economic revival brought by the monetary relaxation policies may cause inflation, which may lead to
depression of macro economy inevitably. All these will serve as a test 1o the enterprises’ ability to adapt
10 the environment. However, | believe that our Group enjoys its significant advantage in brandname and
comprehensive product portfolio, our Group will be able to encounter those challenges ahead

On behalf of the Board and our management team, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
appreciation 1o our customers, suppliers, bankers, business partners and shareholders for the'r great
support and encouragement to the Group during the current vibrant operating environment. My heartfelt
gratitude also goes to our dedicated Board members and committed staff, for their diligence in the past
year. | believe, with your support, encouragement and assistance. the Group will be able to g-asp every
opportunity and march forward in strides.

Chong Siw Yin
Chairperson

21 July 2010
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Management
Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$1,408,364,000, representing
an increase of 18% as compared to HK$1,192,487,000 last year. Profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year was HK$20,:323,000, which demonstrated a remarkable improvement as compared
to a loss of HK$43,671,000 last year. Since the second half of the year, the business oi the Group has
recovered and as a result turned irom loss to profit.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The working capital of the Group was generally financed by intetnal cash ‘lows generated from its
operation and existing banking facilities. As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$398.1 million (2009: HK$330.3 million).

The gearing ratio {a ratio of total interest bearing liabilities 10 total equity) was approximately 99% (2009:
97%).

As at 31 March 2010, the capital structure of the Company was constituted of 1,021,455,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 eacn. The total amount of outstanding borrowings was approximately HK$882 1 million
(2009. HK$844.1 million). approximately 90% of which being short-term loans. Approximately 20% of
the total borrowing was subject 1o interest payable at fixed rates. During the year, the Group used interest
rate swap to manage risks associated with interest rate risks and used fore.gn exchange forward contracts
to hedge against foreign currency exposure.

Financial Guarantees

The Group provided guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain customers of
the Group to purchase its products. As at 31 March 2010, the amount of the outstanding loans granted
by banks to customers for which guarantees have been given by the Group amounted to apprbx-malely
HK$106.7 million (2009: HK$71.3 million).

Pledge of Assets

U] The Group’s banking facilities were secured by the assets of the Group, including restricted bank
balances, leasehold land and building. land use rights, investment properties, plant and machinery,
with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$319.7 million (2009: HK$100.7 mill on).

(i) As at 31 March 2010, the Group also has restricted bank balances to the extent of HK$33.8 million
(2009: HK$21.6 million) pledged to banks for credit facilittes granted to customers to purchase the
Group's products

(i} The Company's investments in certain subsidiaries with aggregate net asset value of HK$176.7
million (2009: HK$167.4 million) are pledged to a bank for banking facilities granted to its
subsidiaries.
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Discussion and Analysis

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had made capital expenditure commitments of approximately HK$50.5
mitlion (2003 HK$57.7 million) in respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group recorded a turnover of HK$1,408,364,000 for the year, of which turnover from October
2009 to March 2010 (the second half of the year) was HK$878,390,000, representing an increase of
approximately 66% as compared to HK$529,374,000 of the first half of the year, which indicated a strong
turnaround in business

The large-scaled economic stimulus measures taken by the PRC government subsequent to the g'oba'
financial crisis had not only inhibited the downturn risk of the PRC economy, but also produced a positive
impact on global economic recovery. The recovery momentum of the PRC economy was particularly
notable during the second half of the year, which brought with it the rapid re¢overy of the business of the
Group

The Group’s turnover from the PRC market for the year amounted 1o HK$1,167,966,000, representing a
significant increase of more than 60% over last year. However, as the recovery of other economic entities
In the world, particularly the European economy, remained siow, the Group's turnover from overseas
markets for the year was only HK$240,398,000, representing a decline of 48% as compared to iast year

Die-casting machines

As a result of the financial crisis, new orders for large die-
casting machines were s'uggish, and the delivery of existing
orders were postponed, only small die-casting machines
gamed a growth in the unfavourable environment during
the first half of the year. However, during the second half
of the year, delivery of the postponed orders resumed
gradually, and new orders also increased rapidly. The
growth momentum in the die-casting machine market in
the PRC, in particular, was encouraging. The turnover of
the Group’'s die-casting machines products ‘rom the PRC
market for the year increased by more than 65% over last
The Group’s 3000-tonne large tonnage cold year.

chamber die-casting machine supplied to a
renowned customer in the USA

Overseas markets including Europe were, however,
still suffering and recovering slowly, and were basically
stagnant during the first half of the year, which limited the growth of the overall turnover of the Group's
die-casting machines products. Nevertheless, the turnover of die-casting machines from overseas markets
in the second half of the year showed notable sign of improvements, which increased by more than 450%
over the furst half of the year.
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Plastic injection moulding machines

The development of the Group’s plastic injection mouiding machine business during the year was
satisfactory, which managed to sustain growth during the irst half of the year despite the adverse
environment, and even achieved rapia growth durning the second haif of the year. The turnover of plastic
injection moulding machines of the Group for the year increased by 57% as compared to last year.

Computerised numerical controlled (CNC) machines

CNC machine business is a growing business of the Group and also one of the major focuses for the
Group's future development New products including TCS10, TC710 and TC1200 launched by the Group !
were well received :n the market. The turnover of CNC machine of the Group grew by more than 140% as '
compared to last year

Cast components

During the first haif of the year, the Group’s large-scales modernised casting factory located in Fuxin
City. Liaoning Province, started trial production for supply to the Group and externa! customers During
the second half of the year, the output volume of cast components increased steadily each month The
commencement of production of the cast components had not only stabilised the supply chain of the
Group, but also enhanced the comprehensive benefit with the three major progucts, namely die-casting
machines, plastic injection moulding machines and CNC machines, and offered the Group with a new
source of income.

Research and development ("R&D")
R&D of die-casting machines

Ouning the year, the Group conducted research and
development on all series of die-casting machines and
enhanced overall performance including operating efficiency
ang level of automation. Being more energy saving, more
environmental protection, much simpher controi helped
customers to reduce their overall production cost and to
enhance product competitiveness. Apart from compieted
projects such as the new large tonnage cold chamber die-
casting machine series and the brand new quick die change
system, the 4000-tonne super large cold chamber die-casting H
machines developed by the Group have also been ordered : SRt
by customers. In the area of professional control system for Professional control systems developed by the
die casting machines, a number of new breakthroughs were Group

2lso made. For example. the Group developed four major

computerised control systems, including the “LK-ADVANCE”, “LK-CAST“, “LK-NET" and “LK-MONITOR",
which facilitate customers to achieve automated, mtelligence-driven, integrated and remote-controlled
production management. to enhance significantly management efficiency and to improve management
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cost The "LK-ADVANCE" control system helps customers to achieve intelligence-driven production, and
is capable of monitoring and controlling production data and production status automatically, which
helps customers to enhance ménagement efficiency and save management cost; the “LK-CAST" controf
system helps customers to monitor the process data and the process motion of the die-casting machines,
thus controfling product quality; the “LK-NET" production control system allows connection of multiple
die-casting machines with real-time control, which enables integrated and intelligence-driven workshop
management; and the “LK-MONITOR" remote control system allows remote diagnosis for providing
customers with timely solutions to problems so as to reduce production interruption, and enhance product
quality.

R&D of plastic injection moulding machines

During the year, the Group made good ach:evement ‘n the R&D of plastic injection moulding machines. In
respect of servo-driven energy-saving plastic injection moulding machines, after authoritative inspection
and testing by the Chinese National Plastic Machinery Products Quality Supervision and Inspection Centre,
the servo-drniven energy-saving high precision plastic injection moulding machines developed by the Group
attained Grade 1 in thé energy efficiency standard set out by the State, and gained a leading position
among counterparts In the industry. On the basis of the “EFFORT" series of direct-clamp plastic injection
mou'ding machines which were successfully launched. the Group has already developed the advance-
performance second generation direct-clamp plastic injection moulding machines and is launching them
in the market In respect of large-scaled plastic injection moulding machines, the Group successfully
developed the "fORZA" new series of large tonnage two-platen plastic injection moulding machines,
and have also developed large tonnage
plastic injection moulding machines with a
clamping force of 3000 tonnes This was
not only an important breakthrough n
the R&D of the Group, but also played a
key role in expanding the scope of plastic
injection moulding machines product
profile, in meeting customer demands and
in accelerating the development of the
Group's plastic injectiton moulding machine
business

The Group's 320-tonne servo-diiven energy-saving plastic
injection moulding machine
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In addition, the micro-.njection moulding machines developed in the joint efforts of the Group with
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University regresents the ‘irst-in-the-world nano-standard upward njection
nigh precision plastic micro-injection moulding machine for producing nano-standard components and
miniatunised precision parts, which are suitable for use in medical and optic instruments. This new injection
moulding machine has captured widespread market attention and has received the “Creation Prize” at
the China International Industry Fair as well as the "Gold Medal Award” at the International Exhibition ot
Inventions held at Geneva, Switzerland

R&D of CNC machines

In addition to the new and competitive “TCS510” and
“TC710~ series of CNC machines, tne Group's R&D centre
in Taiwan has also successfully developed a number of new
series namely "TC1200", "HT400", “HTS00" and “MV-1680"
to meet various market demands

R&D of cast components

The Group's die-casting machines, plastic injection moulding
machines and CNC machines all required a large volume
of high-quality cast components. The Group's large-scaled
modernised casting factory located in Fuxin City, Liaoning
Province, has successfully geveloped a few hundred kinds
of high-quality cast components, 10 be supplied to both the  The Group’s TC1200CNC machine
Group and the external customers,

Prospects

It 1s generally believed in the industry that in the coming year, the momentum in global economic recovery
will basically be secured. The recovered economic environment, the steadvy improving customer demands
and the less stringent bank credit and money supply in the PRC will facilitate another round of equipment
investment by customers. All of these wiil be beneficial to the business recovery and business development
of equipment manufacturers including the Group.

Currently, the Group's order book s satisfactory and the turnover of the Group for the next financial year
1s expected to increase further.
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To meet customer demands for the Group’s large-tonnage die-casting machines and plastic injection
moulding machines, the Group has started construction of the new phase of factory in Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, which is expected to complete in the second half of 2010. Meanwhile, to cope with
the rapid development of the Group’s CNC machine business, the Group has started construction of a
factory in Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province, which 1s also expected to complete in the second half of 2010.

Although the overall business envizonment s improving, certain concerns still exist among equipment
manufacturers. Firstly, the over-relaxed bank credit may result in partial bubbles where the macro economy
of the PRC may gradually move from “recovery” to "overheat”, leading to the possible recurrence of
inflation Under such situation, macro economic policies might be tightened steadily, which would bring
negative effects to customers of the Group. Secondly, as the pace of recovery of the European economy
and the Japanese economy remained slow, the speed of recovery of orders from overseas markets of the
Group 1s restricted. The Group will adjust «ts strategies in a timely manner according to the change in
environment and utilise its resources in an effective way so as to allow the Group flexibility in tackling any
challenges ahead

Meanwhile, the Group will strengthen R&D, nurture talents and seek new business growth potentials
which have synergy effects with the Group's businesses so as to ensure the sustanable development of the
Group
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Directors and <
Senior Management Profiles

DIRECTORS

Ms. Chong Siw Yin, aged 54, is the chairperson of the Board and an executive Director of the Company.
Ms. Chong joined the Group in March 1988, and was appo'nted as an executive Director in August 2004
She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chong is responsib'e for the strategic
planning, admmistration and human resources management of the Group and has over 22 years of
management experience. Ms. Chong has attended secondary education.

Mr. Cao Yang. aged 43, 1s an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company Prior to
joining the Group, he worked for the Ganzhou education bureau in Jiangxi Province. He joined the Group
in December 1991 as supervisor of human resources and administration department and plant manager of
L K. Machinery (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. and became the general manager of both L.K. Machinery {(Shenzhen)
Co. Ltd. in 2000 and Shenzhen Leadwell Technology Co. Ltd. since its establishment He was appointed
as an executive Director in September 2004. Mr. Cao 1s also a drector of certain subsidiartes of the
Company. He is responsible for the strategic planning as well as the overall manufacturing planning and
sales activities of all manufacturing subsidianies of the Group in the PRC. He has more than 18 years of
experience in the manufacturing business. Mr. Cao graduated from the Mathematics faculty of Gannan
Institute of Education and obtained an Executive MBA Degree from Huazhong Unwversity of Science and
Technology. He currently serves as Vice President of Shenzhen Youth Federation, President of Shenzhen
Hi-Tech Talents Association, Vice Director General of Guangdong Die-Casting Association, Vice President
of Shenzhen Machinery Association. In addition, Mr. Cao ss also the Vice President of Shenzhen Hi-Tech
Industry Association and the Youth Entrepreneur Association.

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming, aged 62, is an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Chung joined the Group in
February 2001 as a director of L.K. Machinery Company Limited. He was appointed as an executive Director
in September 2004. M:. Chung s also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company He is responsible
for the strategic planning. the finance and investment of the Group. Mr Chung has over 28 years of
working experience n various sectors, including automobile, toys, electronics and telecommunication
Before joining the Group, he was an executive director of Kader Holdings Company Limited and Kader
Investment Company Ltd. (now known as Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited), both of which are
publicly listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung holds a master degree in Business Administration
frem the University of East Asia of Macau He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and currently serves as vice president of The Hong Kong Association for the Advancement of Science and
Technology Ltd. and a director of The Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association Limited.

Ms. Wong Pui Chun, aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director m November 2008. She joined
the Group in April 2006 and is currently the general manager of L.K. Machinery International Limited and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. She has over 22 years of experience in management,
finance and accounting. Ms. Wong 1s a Certified Public Accountant and she is also a member of American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She graduated from Unwversity of Hawaii al Manoa with a
bachelor degree in Business Administration. Prior to joning the Group, she was the administratve director
of Foshan Nanha: Tai Ping Carpets Company Limited.
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Dr. Low Seow Chay, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in September 2004 He 1s the associate professor of the Nanyang Technological University of Singapore and
has more than 28 years of teaching (and research) experience in mechanical engineering. He is a former
member of the Parfiament of Singapore serving the term from 1988 1o 2006, and is the board member
of three pubicly listed companies in Singapore, nameiy CASA Holdings Limited, Hor Kew Corporation
Limited and Hai Leck Holdings Limited. Dr. Low recewved a Doctor of Philosophy Degree trom The Victoria
Unwversity of Manchester, UK

Dr. Lui Ming Wah, sss. p, aged 72, was appointed as an 'ndependent non-executive Director of the
Company in September 2004. Dr. Lur is an established industrialist serving as the Honorary Chairman
of The Hong Kong Electronic Industries Associat:on Ltd. and the Honorary President of The Chinese
Manutfacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the founder chairman of Hong Kong Shandong Business
Association and a member of The Hong Kong International Arbitration Center Advisory Council. In the
PRC, he 15 a member of the National Committee of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
and a member of China Overseas Friendship Association. He was elected to the First, Second and Third
Legislative Council of the HKSAR in 1998, 2000 and 2004 respectively. He is the managing director of
Keystone Electronics Co.. Limited. Besides, he 1s currently an independent non-executive director of AV
Concept Holdings Limited. Glory Mark Hi-tech {Holdings) Limited, Gold Peak Industries (Holdings) Limited,
S.A.S Dragon Holdings Limited (all being listed companies on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong) and Asian
Citrus Holdings Limited (also iisted on the London Stock Exchange). Dr. Lui obtained a master degree in
Applied Science from the University of New South Wales in Australia and a PhD from the University of
Saskatchewan in Canada

Mr. Tsang Yiu Keung, Paul, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company in September 2004. Mr Tsang holds a higher diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He is a professional accountant and a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Mr. Tsang was with
KPMG for more than 27 years, where he was a senior banking partner until he retired from the firm on 31
March 2003. Mr. Tsang is currently an independent non-executive director of Guotai Junan tnternational
Holdings Limited, a listed company on the Stock Exchange n Hong Kong, and CITIC Bank International
Limited (formerly known as CITIC Ka Wah Bank Limited), a licensed bank in Hong Kong and CITIC
International Financial Holdings Limited.

Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executwe Director of
the Company in September 2004 He has practiced as a solicitor in Hong Kong for over 32 years. Mr.
Chan graduated with Bachelor of Laws (LL.B} from the Unwersity of Hong Kong in 1975 and received a
Postgraduate Certificate of Laws (P.C LL) from the University of Hong Kong in 1976. Mr. Chan is a partner
of Wilkinson & Grist. Mr. Chan is currently 3 non-executive director of Shougang Concord Technology
Holdings Limited and High Fashion International Limited, both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Kwok Keung. aged 44, is the engineering manager of the Group. He joined the Group in
December 1998 ang is responsible for the technical support, customer services and product development.
He has 21 years of experience in mechanical engineering and customer service. He is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. Prior 1o joining the Group, he was the customer
service executive of Fong's National Engineerning Co. Ltd  Mr. Chan graduated from Newcastle Upon Tyne
Polytechnic with a bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering and obtained a degree of master of Science
n Management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic Uniersity

Mr. Chan Yin Sau, Dennis, aged 43, is the corporate development director of the Group. He joned
the Group in June 2010 and is respons.ble for the strategic planning and corporate deve'opment of the
Group. He has extensive experience in financial management and corporate development. Mr. Chan 1s a
fellow member of the Hong Kong institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA of Australia. He
graduated from James Cook University in Australia with a bachelor degree of Commerce in Accounting
and Deakin University 1n Australia with master degree in Business Administration

Mr. Fung Chi Yuen, aged 44, joined the Group in 2007 as general manager and chief engineer of
Irjection Moiding Machine Business Unit. Mr. Fung holds a master degree and a bacheior degree of science
in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He has 21 years’ solid experience in product design,
production and research and development of plastic injection molding machines both locally and overseas.
Before joining the Group, Mr fung was the acting operation manager and engineering manager of Husky
Injection Molding Systems Ltd., Machine Business Unit, Shanghai, Asia Pacific, 3 Canadian base company.

Mr. Li Pin Zhang, aged 48, is the general manager of Shanghai Atech Machinery Co., Ltd. and is
sesponsible for the production and sales, marketing and operaton of the company. He has over 18 years
of experience in production, quality control, engineering, customer service and sales He joined the Group
in February 1991 and served various positions, including customer services officer of L.K. Machinery
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., manager of Fujian sales office, plant manager of Zhongshan L.K. Machinery Co. Ltd.
and deputy general manager ot Shanghai Atech Machinery Co., Ltd. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
as an engineer at Fujian Nam Ping Electric Machinery Factory, a state-owned enterprise in the PRC Mr
Li received a Diploma in Industrial Electrical Automation from Fujian Mechanical & Electrical Institute. Mr.
L was appointed the president of the 9th Executive Committee of the Shanghai D.e-Casting Association,
a member of the Sixth Executive Committee of China Foundry Association and the deputy officer of the
4th Executive Committee of the Die-Casting Technical Committee, Foundry Institution of the Chinese
Mechanical Engineering Society. Mr. Li was awarded the title of Excellent Entrepreneur in the Fifth National
Association of Casting Industry.

Mr. Te Yi Ming, aged 47, is the sales controller of L.K. Machinery International Limited and is responsible
for the sales and marketing in South China. After graduation from the Liuzhou Heavy Industrial Technical
School, he worked in Liuzhou Compressor Factory in Guangxt Province until he joined the Group in March
1989 where he once served as customer services supervisor, sales officer and sales manager. He has
21 years of experience in customer services, sales and marketing. Mr. Te 1s a fellow of The Professional
Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries and currently serves as vice president of Hong Kong (SME)
Economic and Trade Promotional Association, vice president of Hong Kong Diecasting and Foundry
Association and vice president of Shenzhen Plastics & Rubber Association. He is a member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, Liuzhou City.
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Mr. Tse Siu Sze, aged 42, is the general manager of Zhongshan L.K Machinery Co. Ltd. and 1s responsible
for the production and sales, marketing and operation of this company. He joined the Group in July
1990 and served several positions in L.K. Machinery Company Limited, including maintenance supervisor,
customer services manager, marketing manager and sales manager. He has over 15 years experience in
sales and marketing. Mr. Tse currently services as vice president of the Fifth Executive Committee of the
Hong Kong Plastic Machtnery Association, member of the Executive Committee of the Foreign invested
Enterprises Association of Zhongshan, vice president of the Executive Committee of the Associatton of
Commerce of Dongshen County, Zhongshan. He is also a fellow of The Professional Validation Council
of Hong Kong Industries. Mr. Tse was awarded fellow of Business Administration by Asian Knowledge
Management Association in 2005 and received his MBA Degree from the Lincoln University, U.S.

Mr. Wang Xin Liang, aged 42, is the genera! manager of both Ningbo L.K.. Machinery Co Ltd. and
Ningbo L.K. Technology Co. Ltd. and is responsible for the production and sales, marketing and operation
of these companies He joined tne Group 1n July 1993 and served a number of positions in L.K. Machinery
(Shenzhen) Co Ltd., including customer services supervisor, customer services manager and marketing
manager. He has over 15 years of experience in customer support services and sales. Prior to joming the
Group. he was an assistant engineer of Tao Jiang Machinery Factory. He graduated from Changsha Ferrous
Metal Technical School

Mr. Yang Yi Zhong. aged 67, i1s the Group’s chief internal auditor and is responsible for the nternal
audit of the subsidiaries in the PRC. Prior to joming the Group, he was a senior accountant of Jiaozuo
Electrochemistry Group. He joined the Group as the financial controller of all the PRC subsidiaries of the
Group in November 1999 Mr Yang graduated from Henan Radio & Television University with a diploma in
Accounting and has over 41 years of experience in finance and accounting. Mr. Yang is a member of The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Mr. Yuen Chee Wing, aged 44, is the group financial controller of the Group. He joined the Group In
February 2008 and 1s responsible for the strategic planning, the finance and account:ng functions of
the Group. He has over 15 years of experience in audit and accounting. Mr. Yyen is a certified public
accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He graduated from City University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in Business, Chinese University of Hong Kong with a master degree
in Business Administration, and Manchester Metropolitan University with a bachelor degree in Laws. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Yuen was the finance director of a footwear manufacturer in Hong Kong
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The Company 15 committed to maintaiming goos corporate governance practices and procedures The
Company has applied the principles and complied with code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out n Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended
31 March 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently compnses four Executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a fixed term of three years and are subject
10 retrement by rotation in accordance with the Company's Articles of Association. There s a strong
independent element on the Board as the number of Independent Non-executive Directors represents more
than one-third of the Board. They bring independent judgment and provide the Company with invaluable
guidance and advice on the Group’s development. They also review the financial information and
operationai performance of the Company on a regular basis. The present structure of the Board ensures
the independence and objectivity of the Board and provides a system of checks and balances to safequard
the interests of the shareholaers as a whole.

Ali the Ingependent Non-executive Directors meet the requirements of independence under the Listing
Rules. The Company has recewved from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors the annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Ru'e 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of them to be
independent. B.ographical details of each board member are set out in pages 11 to 12 of this report. There
1s no relationship (inciuding financial, business, family or other material relationship) among members of
the Board.

The Board of Directors meets at 'east four times a year at approximately guarterly intervals to review
operational and financial performance and approves matters specialy reserved to the Board of Directors for
its decision. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the Chief Executive Officer and the senior management. Dates of the regular board meeting are scheduled
earlier. Notice of at least 14 days is given for regular board meetings. For ad hoc board meetings,
reasonab'e notice will be given. All the Directors actively participated in the board meetings during the
year

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring compliance of Board procedures and advising the Board
on matters concerning corparate governance and requlatory complance. All Directors have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary. Directors are consulted as 10 matters to be included in the
agenda for regular board meetings. Other than exceptional circumstances, related board meeting materials
are sent to all Directors in 3 timely manner and at least three days before the date of the scheduled
board meeting. Directors are provided with complete and adequate information to enable them to make
an informed decision. Draft and final versions of minutes of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for
comment and records within a reasonable time after the Board meeting 1s held. The minutes of the Board
meetings record in sufficient details the matters considered by the Board, including concerns raised by the
Directors All minutes of Board meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection
by any Director.

15
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If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter 1o be considered by the
Board whicn the Board has determined to be mater al, the matter will be dealt with by way of a Board
meeting and the interested shareholder or Director shall not vote nor be counted in the quorum present at
the relevant meeting. Independent Non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, have no material
interest in the transaction shall be present at such Board meeting.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal actions against its Directors
and officers. The Company reviews the insurance coverage fiom time to time to ensure adequate
coverage. There is a procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional agvice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses in order 1o assist
them to discharge their duties to the Company.

The roles of the Chairperson and Cheef Executwe Officer of the Company are segregated and are not
exercised by the same individual Ms Chong Siw Yin is the Chairperson and Mr. Cao Yang s the Chief
Executive Officer. The segregation of duties of the Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer ensures a
clear distinction tin the Chairperson’s responsibility to manage the Board and the Chief Executive Officer’s
responsibitity to manage the Cornpany's business. The division of responsibilities between the Chairperson
and the Chief Executive Officer are set out in writing

Attendance at meetings
The attendance records of the Directors at Board meetings, Audit Committee meetings, Nomination

Committee meet:ngs and Remuneration Committee meetings during the year are as follows

Number of meetings attended/held
Audit Nomination Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting meeting meeting meeting
Executive Directors
Ms. Chong Siw Yin a/4 N/A N/A N/A
Mr Cao Yang 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
Ms. wong Pui Chun 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
Independent Non-executive
Directors
Dr. Low Seow Chay 4/4 N/A 2 N/A
Dr. Lw Ming Wah, sas, ¢ 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2
Mr Tsang Yiu Keung, Paul 3/4 4/4 N/A 2/2

Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael a/4 4/4 212 212
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Lui Ming
Wah, ses, »», Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michae! and Mr. Tsang Yiu Keung, Paul. Dr. Lui Ming Wah, s8s. s is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Commitiee include
reviewing the terms of remuneration packages of Directors and senior management, determining the
award of bonuses and considering the grant of options under the share option scheme of the Company.
Under its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee shall meet at least twice a year

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year. The members of the Remuneration
Committee considered and determined the remuneration package of three executive directors on renewal
of their service contracts. They also discussed and reviewed the salary, bonus and benefit of all the
Executive Directors.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
Wah Tip, Michael, Dr Low Seow Chay and Dr. Lui Ming Wah, s8s. . Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Commuittee 1s mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of directors and the management of the board
succession. The Nom:nation Committee can reasonably ensure that only candidates with capability and
relevant experience will be appointed as future directors. Such monuoring by the Nomination Committee
will lower the possibility for appointment of someone that may affect the independence of the Board.
Under its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee shail meet at least twice a year

During the year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. They discussed and reviewed the terms of
the service contracts of three Executive Directors. They also assessed the inaependence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tsang Yiu Keung,
Paul, Dr. Lur Ming Wah, sas. s and Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael. Mr. Tsang Y.u Keung, Paul is the chairman
of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the Group and provide advice and comments to
the Board. Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee shall meet at least four uimes a year. The
Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee

During the year, the Audit Committee held four meetings with the representatives of the management,
the internal auditors and the external auditor of the Company to discuss the auditing, financial reporting
and internal control matters. The Audit Committee also met with external auditors in the absence of
management to discuss and make enquiries on various financial and operational matters.
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The following is a summary of works performed by tne Audit Committee during the year:

review of the Group's interim and annual results before submission to the Board for approval;

(i} review of external auditor’s audit plan, the external auditor’s reports and other matters raised by
the external auditor;

(i) review of the independence of the external auditor and approval of its engagement letter and audit
fee;

(iv)  review of the quarterly reports by the Internal Audit Department and make recommendations; and
v) review of the system of internal control and working procedures of the Group.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group’s external auditor, BDO Limited and its member firms,
is set out as follows:

Fee paid/payable

HK$'000

Audit services 2,416
Non-audit services 602
3,018

The non-audit services are mainly for interim results review and tax compliance.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Mode! Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. The Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code
for dealings in the Company’s secunties by relevant employees who are 'ikely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company or the Company’s securities.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Dizectors acknow'edge the.r responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for
the yeer ended 31 March 2010

The statement of the external auditor of tne Company about its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on page 33 and 34

There are no matenal uncertainties reiating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability 1o continue as a go'ng concern

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the maintenance of sound and effective internal contro! systems
within the Group.

The internal audit department (the "IAD") of the Company reports direct to the Audit Committee. The
functions and responsibilities of the IAD include, among others, formulat:ng audit plan, reviewing monthly
management accounts, preparing and performing audit field work, preparing quarterly audit summary
reports. Quarterly reports are prepared and submitted to the Audit Committee for review. The head of
the IAD attends all the Audit Committee meetings and report to the Audit Committee regarding the
work done and findings made by the 1AD. The IAD is required to incorporate recommendations from the
Audit Committee into the workilow or procedures of the IAD. When the IAD identifies any wrregularities,
it will report them to the Audit Committee and depending on the nature of the irregulanities, recommend
corresponding precautionary measures. All recommendations from the IAD will be properly fol'owed up to
ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable timeframe.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system and considered the adeauacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company's
accounting and financial reporuing function, and their training programmes and budget.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains various communication channels with its shareholders. The Company's annual
general meeting provides a good opportunity for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
chairperson of the Board and the chairmen of the Audi Comrmittee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Commitee w:ll attend the annual general meeting and ready to answer shareholders’
questions.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company maintains 3 website www.lktechnology.com
which includes past and present information relating to the Group and its businesses

The Company regards communications with its investors as being vital. The Company continues to enhance
investor relat:ons. Designated members of the Board and senior management of the Company are given
the specific responsibilities to maintain regular contact with institutional investors, potential investors,
financial analysts and fund managers. During the year, plant visits and meetings were held to keep them
better understand the Group's operations and developments. Press releases were issued to provide with
the most updated business development of the Group to the public

19
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The Directors submit their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2010.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (tne "Group™) are
principally engaged in the design, manufacture and sales of hot chamber and cold chamber die-casting
machines, plastic injection moulding machines and related accessories. The Group 1s also engaged .n steel
casting. The actvities of the Company's principal subsidiaries, an associate and a jointly controlled entity
are set out in notes 40, 18 and 19 respectively to the consolidated financial statements

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 35

The Dizectors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the
consondated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capnal of the Company are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable or other donations totalling HK$57,000

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2010, the Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders of the Company
were HK$244.5 million, representing share premium of HK$244.9 million and share option reserve oi
HK$5.1 million after deduction of accumulated losses of HK$5.5 million.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premwum of the Company may be distributed
subject to the provision of the Company’s Articles of Association and provided that immediately iollowing
the date on which the div.dend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the resuits and of the assets and liabilities ot the Group s set out on page 118

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Articles of Association and the
Compantes Law of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chong Siw Yin (Chairperson)

Mr. Cao Yang (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Ms. Wong Pui Chun

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Low Seow Chay

Dr. Lui Ming Wah, sss, s

Mr Tsang Yiu Keung, Paul

Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 11 to page 12 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS (Continued) !

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Chung Yuk Ming. Dr. Low

Seow Chay and Dr. Lui Ming Wah, sss, e shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting :

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. |
|

Three of the Executive Directors, namely Ms. Chong Siw Yin, Mr. Cao Yang and Mr. Chung Yuk Ming,
whose service contracts with the Company for a term of three years expired and were renewed for a term
of three years with etfect from 16 October 2009. The other Executive Director, Ms. Wong Pui Chun has
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 7 November 2008 The
service contracts can be terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by either party

The Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Low Seow Chay, Dr. Lui Ming Wah, ses, j», Mr Tsang
Yiu Keung, Paul and Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael were re-appointed for a term of three years in September
2007. Each of the Indepenaent Non-executive Directors or the Company may terminate the appointment
at any time during the three-year term by g'ving the other party at least three months’ notice in writing

Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotatton in accordance with the Company's Articles of
Association.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which 1s not determinable by the empioying
company wi.thin one year without payment of compensation, othe than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a rmaterial interest, whether directly
or indirectly. subsisted at the end of the year or any time during the year except for those disclosed under
“Continuing Connected Transaction” below.

[—
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS Of THE DIRECTORS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations {within the meaning of Part XV of Securities and Futures Ordinance (*SFO")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Dvisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including any interests which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant 1o Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) in Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Ruies”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Approximate

Name of Number of percentage of
Name of director company Capacity shares held shareholding
Ms Chong Siw Yin the Company See Note (1) 650,000,000 63.63%
("Ms. Chong™) Long position
the Company Beneficial owner 500,000 0.05%
the Company Beneficial owner 2,500,000% 024%
Long position
Mr. Cao Yang the Company Beneficial owner 1,000,000 0.10%
Long position
2,000,000 0.20%
Long position
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming the Company Beneficial owner 1,500,000 015%
Long position
1,500,000 0.15%
Long position
Ms Wong Pui Chun the Company Beneficial owner 600.000 0.06%
Long position
Notes.
1 These 650,000,000 shares are owned by Girgio Industries timited ("Girgio”). Girgio is owned as to 95% by
Ful'wit Profits Limuted (“Fullwit™} as trustee of The Liu Famity Unit Trust and 5% by Mr Liu Siong Song (M.
Liu~), the spouse of Ms. Chong Fuliwit is wholly-owned by Ms. Chong Ms Chong is deemed to be interested
in the shares held by Girgio through Fullwit and Mr. Liu.
2 Such interest in shares is held pursuant to options granted under the Pre-IPQ Share Option Scheme, detalls of

which are described in the paragraph headed ~Share Option Schemes” in this report

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had registered
any interest of short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO. to be entered in the register referred to therein, or
otherwise notified 1o the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

23
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2010, the persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rnights to vote in all
arcumstances at general meetings of the Company, or which were required, pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO. to be entered in the register referred 10 therein, were as follows:

Approximate
Number of  percentage of

Name Capacity shares held shareholding

Girgio Beneficial owner 650,000,000 63.63%
Long pasition

Mr. Liu See Note (2) 650,000,000 63.63%
Long position

500,000% 005%
Long position

2,500.000% 0.24%
Long position

Fullwit See Note (1) 650,000,000 6363%
Long position

HSBC International Trustee Limited See Note (3) 650,000,000 63.63%
Long position

The Hamon Investment Group Pte Limited Investment manager 70,607,500 6.91%
Long pos.tion

The Dreyfus Corporation Investment manager 61,742,500 6.04%
Long position

Notes
1 These 650,000,000 shares are owned by Girgio. Girgio 1s owned as to 35% by Fuliwil as trustee of The uu
family Unit Trust and 5% by Mr Liu. Fullwit is wholly-owned by Ms Chong
2 Mr. Liu 15 the spouse of Ms. Chong and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Ms Chong Besides,
Mr. Liu holds 5% interest in Girgio
3 HSBC International Trustee Limited is the trustee of The Liu Family Tryst. The Liv Family Trust was established by

Mr. Liu on 22 February 2002 as an irrevocable discretionary trust for the benefit of Ms Chong and the children
of Mr t.u and Ms. Chong. KSBC interratiorat Trustee Limited as trustee of The Liu Family Trust owns 99 9% of
the units 1ssued under The Liu Family Unit Trust and Ms Chong owns the remaining 0.1% of the units,

Save as disclosed above, the Directors of the Company were not aware of any persons (who were not
directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO. or who has interest in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capntal, or options
in respect of such capital, carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company
or which wouid be required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered In the register referred
therein
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES :

A Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the sole shareholder of
the Company passed on 23 September 2006. Movements of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2010 were as follows:

Number of shares subject to options
Outstanding Exercised Outstanding

Name/category of Exercise Exercise as at during as at
participant Date of grant price period 01/04/09 the year 31/03/10 .
HKS 1

The Directors

Ms Chong 2310972006 0.666 16/04/2007 - 3,000,000 {500.000) 2,500,000
15/10/2016

Mr Cao Yang 23/09/2006 0666 16/04/2007 - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
15/10/2016

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming 23/09/2006 0666 16/0472007 - 2,000,000 {500,000} 1,500,000
1571072016

Ms. Wong Pui Chun 23/09/2C06 0666 '6/04/2007 - 600,000 1600,000) -
1571072016

7,600,000  (1,600,000)  6,000.000

Other Employees 23/09/2006 0666 16/04/2007 - 11,030,000  (7.020,000) 4,010,000
1671072016

18.630.000  (8.620,000) 10.010,600
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Each of the grantees to whom options were granted under the Pre-tPO Share Option Scheme would be
subject to the following restrictions on the exercise of the options granted to him/her: '

Period (as from 16 October 2006, the day on which Maximum cumulative percentage
the shares of the Company commenced trading on of the shares under option
the Stock Exchange, the “Listing Date*) exercisable by the grantee
First 6 months 0%
Second 6 months 33%
Third 6 months 66%
For the remaining option pernod . 100%
Save as disclosed above, no further options were granted under the Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme as the
right to do so had ended on the day on which the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2006
(the “Prospectus”) was registered with the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong |

The fair value of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme amounting to
HK$18,480,000 was determined at the Listing Date under the Binominal Option Pricing Moael by an
independent valuer.

The fair value of the options granted 1s expensed over the respective vesting periods.

The weighted average closing price immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised
during the year was HK$1.66

In add:tion, a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme™) was also adopted pursuant to the written
resolution passed by the sole shareholder of the Company on 23 September 2006. No options had been
granted under the Share Option Scheme since its date of adoption and up to 31 March 2010
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

A,

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected persons as incentives or rewards for therr contribution to the Group. The principal terms
of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are substantially the same as the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (as summarised in section 8 below) except that.

(a)

(b}

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

the subscription price for the shares is HK$0 666,

the total number of shares subject to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is 36,800,000 shares
and there are no similar requirements on granting options to connected persons as detailed
in the Share Option Scheme;

only employees. executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-executive
drrectors are eligible for the grant of options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme;

save for the options which have been granted (witn details set out in the Prospectus), no
further options wi'l be granted as the right to do so has ended on the day on which the
Prospectus was registered with the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong;

the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will not be exercised within the
first six months of the Listing Date,

the grantees will not exercise any option as a result of which the Company will not be able
to comply with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules; and

each of the grantees to whom options have been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme 15 subject to the restrictions on the exercise of the options granted to him/her as
mentioned in the preceding paragraph

The Share Option Scheme

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to
selected persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution 10 the Group

Participants of The Share Option Scheme

The Board may. at its absolute discretion, avite any employees (whether fuil time or part
tme), any executive directors, any non-executive directors, any independent non-executive
directors, or any consultant, suppliers or customers of the Group (the “Participants”) to take
up options to subscribe for shares at a price calculated in accordance with paragraph (g)
below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)
B. The Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(c)

(@)

(e)

)

Maximum number of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
share capital of the Company in issue from time 1o time. No options may be granted under
the Share Option Scneme or any other share option scheme(s) of the Group, if this will result
in such 30% limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant under the Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be 1ssued on the exercise of options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Participant shall not exceed 1%
of the total issued share capitai of the Company for the time being (the “Individual Limit")
Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up
to and including the date of such further grant shall be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such Participant and his associates
abstaining from voung.

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option

The Participant must pay HK$10 to the Company by way of a non-refundable nominal
consideration for the grant thereof. An option shall be deemed to have been accepted when
the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the Participant
together with the said consideration of HK$10 is recewed by the Company.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time during a period to be determined on the date of grant and to be noufied by the
Oirectors to each grantee which period may commence from the date of acceptance of the
offer for the grant of options but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. An option may not be
exercised after the expiry of ten years from the date of grant. The Board may in the letter
containing the offer of grant of option to the Participant pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme impose restrictions on the exercise of an option during the period an option may
be exercised including (but not limited to), if appropriate, the minimum period for which an
option must be held or may be exercised. All of the options must be held for a period of six
months (the ~Six-Months period”) from the date of grant and no option may be exercised
within the Six-Months Period.

The Board may in the letter containing' the offer of grant of option to the Participant
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme impose restrictions on the exercise of an option during
the period an option may be exercised including (but not iimited to) a performance target (as
determined by the Board from time to time) which must be achieved before an option can
be exercised.




PUBLIC FILE —!
FOLIO 151

L X TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED » ANNUAL REPORT 2009/10 29

Directors’
Report <

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)
B. The Share Option Scheme (Continued) .
@) Basis of determining the exercise price :

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme may be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the daiiy quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, which must be a business day;
and () the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant of option.

th) Period of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to earlier termination by the Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting,
the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a penod of ten years commencing from 23
September 2006 after such period no further options will be granted but the prowvisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all aspect.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Company’s share option schemes disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures, of the
Company or any other body corporate

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

tach of Mr. Liu, Girgio, Ms. Chong, Mr. Liu Zhou Ming and Fullwit has provided a written contfirmation,
which has been reviewed and confirmed by the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company,
confirming compliance with the terms of the Non-competition Undertaking entered into between them
and the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the five largest customers and purchases from the five largest supphers of the
Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales and total purchases, respectvely, for the
year.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS' INFORMATION UNDER RULE 13.518(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Mr Chung Yuk Ming ceased to be a director of Hong Kong & Kowloon Plastic Products Merchants United
Association Limited with effect from 1 January 2010

Dr. Lui Ming Wah retired as a counci! member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Mr. Tsang Yiu Keung, Paul was appomnted as an Independent Non-executive Director of Guotai Junan
International Limited on 19 June 2010

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A related party transaction as detailed below and disclosed in note 33(a) to the consolidated financial
statements constituted a connected transaction under the Listing Rules which is required to be disclosed in
this report in accoraance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

On 29 August 2008, LK. Machinery International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered 1n1o a tenancy agreement with Wheelfit Investment Limited ("Wheelfit*) to renew the tenancy of
Umt A, Ground floor {with a gross floor area of approximately 12,104 sq.ft.), Mai Wah industnial Building,
Nos. 1-7 Wah Sing Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories (the “Premises”) for a term of two years from 1
September 2008 to 31 August 2010 at a monthly rental of HK$100,000 (the “Tenancy Agreement”). Since
Wheelfit 15 a company directly owned as 1o 50% by Mr. Liu, @ substantial shareholder of the Company
and 50% by an independent third party, the Tenancy Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company ("Continuing Connected Transaction”). During the year, the rentals paid by
the Group to Wheelfit amounted 1o HK$1,200,000.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the Continuing Connected
Transaction disclosed above was entered in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and
on normat commercial terms and 1n accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transaction on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole

Report from the auditor on the Continuing Connected Transaction

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules in relation to the Continuing Connected Transaction, the
Board of Directors of the Company engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed-upon
procedures on the Continuing Connected Transaction for the year ended 31 March 2010 in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Related Services 4400 "Engagements to Perform Agreed-Upon Procedures
Regarding Financial Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the auditor reported that the Continuing Connected Transaction for the year ended 31 March 2010:

{1) 1t has been approved by the Board;
2) 1t has been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transaction; and

3) the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected Transaction has not exceeded the annual cap
that has been previous announced.
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STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group employed approximately 3,300 full uime staff. The staff costs for current
year amounted to HK$265.0 million (2009 HK$273.9 million). The remuneration policies of the Group
are determined based on market trends, future plans, and the performance of individuals. In addition, the
Group also provides other staff benefit such as mandatory provident fund, state-managed social welfare
scheme and share option schemes.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, to the best knowiedge of the Directors
and based on the information publicly available to the Company, there is sufficient public float as required
by the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and holding company has purchased.
sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2010.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF
THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requiements of Rule 13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following 1s
the details of the facility agreement with a covenant relating to specific performance of the controling
shareholder of the Company at 31 March 2010

On 18 July 2008, LK. Machinery Company Limited as borrower, and the Company as a guarantor, enterea
into a facility agreement with, inter alia, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited as
the mandated coordinating arranger and the agent and other financial institutions as lenders for a three-
year term loan/revolving credit facility of up to HK$500 million (the “facility Agreement”), the Facility
Agreement imposes a covenant relating to specific performance of the controlling shareholder of the
Company

The Facility Agreement provides that it would const'tute an event of default under the Facility Agreement
if Ms. Chong Siw Yin (a controlling shareholder of the Company held as to approximately 74% of equity
interests in the Company as at the date of the Facility Agreement) does not or ceases to hold (directly or
indirectly) beneficially and legally, more than 50% of the shares and equity interests in the Company

The aforesaid obligation continued to exist at 31 March 2010

n
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AUDITOR

A reso'ution to re-appo:nt Messrs. BDO Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

By order of the Board
Cao Yang
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong. 21 July 2010
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Tel : +852 2541 5041 25" Floor Wing On Centre
J' Fax: +852 2815 2239 111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com hk Hong
R : <852 2541 5041 FATEAP IR
WX . -852 2815 2239 K RP 250

www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

L.K. TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of L.K. Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiartes (together the “Group”} set out on pages 35 to 117, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidatea statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsibie ‘or the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
these financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies QOrdinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibiuty is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement

33
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
n the financial statements. Tne procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financ:al statements, whether due to fraud or error
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate In the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overail presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true ana fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Wong Chi Wai

Practising Certificate Number P04945

Hong Kong, 21 July 2010
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2010 2009
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000
Turnover 7 1,408,364 1,192,487
Cost of sales (1.025.452) (887,564)
Gross profit 382,912 304,923
Other revenue 7 21,683 25,934
Other gains/(iosses) 7 3,873 10,251
Selling and distribution expenses (123,999) {131,164)
Administration expenses {218,172) (218,506)
Profiv(ioss) from operations 8 66,297 (8,562)
Finance income 10 1,678 3,921
Finance costs 10 (35,790) (42,022)
Finance costs - net ' 10 (34,112) (38,101}
Share of loss of an associate 18 (4,079) (1.227)
Snare of loss of a jointly controlled entity 19 (964) 8)
Profit/(loss) before income taxes 27,142 (47,898)
Income taxes 1 (23,907) (4,315)
Profit/(loss) for the year 3,235 (52,213)
Atuributable to:
Owners of the Company 20,323 (43,671)
Minority interests (17,088) (8.542)
3,235 (52,213)
HK cents HK cents
Earnings/(loss) per share 13
- basic 2.0 (4.3)
- diluted 2.0 (4.3)
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2010 2009
HKS000 HK$'000
Profit/(loss) for the year 3,235 (52,213)
Other comprehensive income for the year
Exchange differences arising on transiation
of toreign operations 6,149 5,531
Gain on fair value cnanges of aval'able-ior-sale
financial assets 1,327 206
Transfer to income statement upon disposal of
available-for-sale financial assets - (392)
Total comprehensive income {or tne year, net of tax 10,711 {46,868)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 26,357 (34,948)
Minority interests . (15.646) (11,920)

10,71 {46,868)
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2010 2009
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000
{Restated)
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 14 16,191 14,999
Property, plant and equipment 15 594,210 632,280
Investment properties 16 25,910 22,140
Land use rnights 17 140,313 83,353
Deposits paid 26 28,568 21,935
Interest in an associate 18 71,397 75,476
Interest in a jointly controlled entity 19 - 3,078
Deferred tax assets 20 11,073 16,951
Bills and accounts receivable - due after one year 21 6,156 -
Derivative financial instruments 22 2, 1IN 4,744
Restricted bank balances 23 6,873 6,092
903,462 881,048
Current assets
Inventor-es 24 534,861 454,410
Available-for-sale financial assets 25 10,418 9.091
Bills and accounts receivable 21 487,352 351,737
Other receivab'es, prepayments and deposits 26 155,944 55,064
Amount due from an associate 33(c) 340 -
Derwative financial instruments 22 2,670 34
Restricted bank balances 23 27,137 21,632
Cash and bank balances 27 398,074 330,265
1,616,796 1,222,233
Current liabilities
Bills and accounts payable 28 366,962 161,427
Other payables. deposits and accruals 29 315,777 169,007
Amount due to holding company 33(c) 40,000 -
Amount due to an associate 33(c) - 40,909
Derivative financial instruments 22 2,322 3.307
Bank borrowings - due within one year 30 796.990 841,153
Tax payable 3,863 481
1,525,914 1,216,284
Net current assets 90,882 5.949

Total assets less current liabilities 994,344 886,997
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2010 2009
Notes HKS'000 HK$'000
(Restated)
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities . 20 8,595 3,708
Derivative financial instruments 22 1,168 2,236
Bank borrowings - due after one year 30 85,155 2,923
Provision for post-employment benefits 31 10,654 10,503
105,572 19,370
Net assets 888,772 867.627
EQuUITY
Share capitai 32 102,146 101,284
Reserves 42 783,183 751,947
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 885,329 853,231
Minority interests 3,443 14,396
Total equity 888,772 867,627

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 July 2010 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Cao Yang
Chief Executive Officer

Chung Yuk Ming
Executive Director
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2010 2009
Notes HKS000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 40 65,000 65,000
Current assets
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 194 204
Amounts due from subsidiaries 41 282,794 287,645
Cash and bank balances 1,444 901
284,432 288,750
Current liabilities
Other payables, deposits and accruals 2,803 2,542
Net current assets 281,629 286,208
Net assets 346,629 351,208
EQUITY
Share capntal 32 102,146 101,284
Reserves 42 244,483 249,924
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 346,629 351,208

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 July 2010 and signed on behalf oi the Board by:

Cao Yang
Chief Executive Officer

Chung Yuk Ming
Executive Director
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2010 2009
HKS000 HK$'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(ioss) before income taxes 27,142 {47.898)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 85,304 80,372
(Increase)/decrease in fair value of investment properties (3,770) 3'840.
Bank interest income (1.678) (3,921)
Interests on bank borrowings 35,790 42,022
Share of loss of an associate 4,079 1,227
Share oi loss of a ,0intly contro'led entity 964 8
Impairment losses on intangible assets 1,499 327
Impairment losses on property, piant and equipment 3,501 5.168
Impairment losses on accounts receivable 5,949 4,760
Write down of inventories 3,940 9,158
Net fair value (gaimfloss on derivative financial instruments (1.330) 3,290
Losses/(gains) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 248 (387)
Gan on disposal of a jointly controlled entity (659) -
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over cost of acquisition - (17,452)
Share-based payments - 168
Gain on disposal oi available-for-sa.e financial assets - (392)
Operating profit before changes in working capital 160,979 80,290
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (84,213} 141,352
(Increase)/decrease in bills and accounts receivabie (147,758) 128,635
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, prepayments and deposits (103,359) 31,956
Increase in amount due from an associate {340) -
Increase/(decrease) in bills and accounts payable 205,535 (183,625}
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, deposits and accruals 146,770 (47,691)
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to an associate (40,909) 40.909
Net settlement of derivative financial inst”uments (1.386) -
Increase/(decrease) in provision for post-employment benefits 151 (7.238)
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes (932) 2.806
Cash generated from operations 134,538 187,394
Tax paid {9.760) (8.243)
Interest paid (36,077) (42,022)
Net cash from operating activities 88,701 137,129
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2010 2009
Note HKS'000 HK$'000
Investing activities
Payments for intangible assets (4.363) (6,065)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment {74,435) (224,356)
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (7.853) (4,602)
Payment for land use rights (40,102) (8,566}
Deposits for acquisition of land use rights (19,049) -
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank balances (6.286) 34,449
Government subsidy recetved for acquisition of property.
plant and equipment 39,236 -
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 651 2,165
Proceeds from disposal of a jointly controlled entity 2,773 -
Interest received 1,678 3,921
Interest in an associate - (55.261)
-Interest in a jointly controlled entity - (3,086)
Acquisition of a subsidiary 44 - 5.607
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets - (9.091)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets - 952
Net cash used in investing activities (107,750) (263.933)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 5.741 1,059
Inception of new bank loans 250,005 773,458
Repayment of bank loans (258,000) (423.797)
Net increase/(decrease) in trust receipt and other loans 46,064 (56,951)
Increase in amount due to holding company 40,000 -
Capital contibution from minority shareholders of
subsidiaries 1,273 17,700
Dividends paid - (27.346)
Net cash from financing activities 85,083 284,123
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 66,034 157,319
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes 1,775 2,161
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 330.265 170,785
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 398,074 330,265

Note.

During the year, patents of HK$3.420,000 included in intangible assets were contributed by a minority sharehoider of a

subsidiary as capital contribution
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For the year ended 31 March 2010

GENERAL INFORMATION

L.K. Technoiogy Holdings Limited (tne “Company") was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liabuity and its shares are nsted on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 16 October 2006. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information*
section of the annual report. The immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company s
Girgio Industries Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the ~Group”) are principally engaged in the design, manuacture,
and sales of hot chamber and cold chamber die-casting machines, plastic injection moutding
machines and related accessories. The Group 1s also engaged in steel casting.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@)  The Group has adopted the following new or revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") that are effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs ssued in 2008, except for
the amendment to HKFRS 5 that is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009 in relation to
the amendment to paragraph 80 of HKAS 39

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on
(Amendments) Liquidation

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a Subsidia+y, Jointly Controlled
{Amendments) Entity or Associate

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Improving Disclosures about Financial instruments

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 9 Embedded Derivatives
and HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HK{FRIC) - interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

HK(IFRIC} - Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Iavestment in a Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

{Continued)
(a) (Continued)
HKFRSs (Amendments) “improvements to HKFRSs”

The improvements remove the inconsistent guidance regarding the cufrent or non-curient
classification of derivatives under HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement™. A derivative which is not
held for trading purpose should be presented as current or non-current on the basis of its
settlement date. Certain derivatives of the Group previously classified as current are therefore
reclassified as non-current as detailed below

Group
As at 31 March 2009
As previously

stated Reclassification As restated
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Derivative financial instruments
classified as non-current assets
Call options - 4,744 4,744
Derivative financial instruments
classified as current assets
Ca'l options 4,744 (4,744) -
Interest rate swap contract 34 - 34
4,778 (4,744) 34
Derivative financial instruments
classified as non-current liabilities
Put options - 2,236 2,236
Derivative financial instruments
classified as current liabilities
Put options 2,236 (2.236) -
Interest rate swap contract 2,909 - 2,909
Foreign exchange forward contract 398 - 398
5.543 (2,236) 3,307

The Group has no denvative financial instruments as at 31 March 2008. The above
reclassitications have only affected the statement of financial position (previously known as
balance sheet) as at 31 March 2009. Therefore, an additional statement of financial position
as at 1 Apnl 2008, as required by the revised HKAS 1, has not been presented
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
{Continued)

(a)

(Continued)
HKAS 1 (Revised) “Presentation of Financial Statements”

The revised standard has introduced a number of terminology changes (including revised
titles for financial statements) anc has resuited in a number of changes in presentation and
disclosure but have no effect on the reported results and financial position of the Group.
Under the revised standard, the Income Statement, the Balance Sheet and the Cash Flow
Statement are renamed as the "Statement of Comprehensive Income”, the “Statement of
Financial Position” and the “Statement of Cash Flows™ respectively.

The revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity The statement
of changes in equity includes only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner
changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition, this standard also introduces the
statement of comprehensive income, with ail items of income and expenses recognised in
profit or loss, together with other items of recognised income or expenses recognised in
other comprehensive income, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements.
The Group has elected to present two statements.

HKAS 23 (Revised) "Borrowing Costs”

HKAS 23 (Revised) "Borrowing Costs” requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable 1o the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that
asset and removes the option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs. The adoption
of this revised standard has resulted in capitalisation of borrowing costs incurred for the
Group's qualifying assets The Group has elected to prospectively apply the revised standard
to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalisation 1s on or after the
effective date of 1 April 2009

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) “Improving Disclosures about Financial instruments”

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures relating to fair value measurements for
tinancial instruments that are measured at far value and hquidity risk of financial liabilties.
In particular, a three-level fair value hierarchy has been introduced to categorise the fair
value measurements according to the degree they are based on observable market data. The
Group has not provided comparative information for the expanded disclosures in accordance
with the transitional provision.

HKFRS 8 "Operating Segments”

HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”, and requires a management approach
under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal
reporting purposes. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. In the past, the Group’s
reporting format was business and geographical segments. The application of HKFRS 8 has
resulted in a re-designation of the Group’s segment reporting from one reportable segment
of manufacture and sales of machinery and equipment into two reportable segments,
namely, manutacture and sales of machinery and equipment, and steel casting
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Continued

Except for the adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 7, comparative information has been
restated or presented for the first time in order to achieve a consistent presentation. The
adoption of other new or revised HKFRSs had no material effect on the reported resuits and
financial position of the Group for both the current and prior reporting periods and no prior
period adjustment has been recognised.

Potential impact arising on HKFRSs not yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group's operations, have.

been i1ssued but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of Improvements to
HKFRSs*

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009?

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010? .

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment - Group Cash-settled Share-based

Payment Transactions*
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures®
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements'
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations’
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’
HK{IFRIC) - Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments®

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Effectve for annual periods beginring on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as
appropriate.

Eftective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and 1 January 2011, as
appropriate

Etfecuive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

Effectwe for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

H

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group's accounting for business
combinations for which the acquisition dates are on or after 1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised)
will affect the accounting treatment for changes in the Group's ownership interest in a
subsidiary. Changes in the Group’s ownership interest that do not result in loss of control
of the subsidiary will be accounted for as equity transactions. It also requires the Group 10
attribute the share of profit or loss to non-controling interest (previously known as minority
interest) even if it results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”)

{Continued}

(b)

Potential impact arising on HKFRSs not yet effective (Continued)

In adaition, as part of improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS 17 “Leases” has been
amended in relation to the ciassification of leasehold land. The amendment, effective from 1
April 2010, removes the requirement for leasee to classify leasehold land as operating leases
and present as prepaid lease payments in the statement of financial position. Instead, the
amendment requires the classification of leasehold land 10 be based on the general principles
set out In HKAS 17, that are based on the extent to which nisks and rewards incidental 1o
ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. The application of amendments
to HKAS 17 might affect the classification and measurement of the Group's leaseho'd land.

The Group 15 1n the process of making an assessment of the potential impact of other new
or revised HKFRSs and the directors so far concluded that the application of these new or
revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consohdated financiai statements have been prepared in accordance with all appl.cable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (*HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter
co'lectively referred to as the "HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financia! statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis
except for investment properties, available-for-sate financial assets and derivative financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies set
out in note 4

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financtal statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management
1o make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant Actual results may differ from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) -
(c) Use of estimates and judgements (Continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of reporting period, that have a sigmificant risk of causing a material adjustment
1o the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed in
note 5.

(d)  Functional and presentation currency

The consoiidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the same
as the functional currency of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting poiicies which have been consistently applied during the year are set out
below

(a)  Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements ot the Company
and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the tinancial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities

The results of subsidiaries acquireo or disposed of during the year are inc'uded in the income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein. Mino:ity interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those at the date of the original business combination and the minority's share of changes
In equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable 1o the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interest of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and 1s able to make
additional ‘nvestment to cover the losses

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company's statement of financial position at
cost less any identified impairment loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries,
associate, or jointly controlled entity by the Group. The cost of an acquisition 1s measured
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs drectly atiributable to the acquisition.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initiaily at their fair values at the acquisition gate, irrespective
of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired 1s recorded as goodwill. In
respect of associate and jointly controlled entity, the carrying amount of goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the interest in the associate and the jointly controlled entity, and
the investment as a whole 1s tested for impairment whenever there is objective evidence of
impairment (note 4(0)).

(b) Goodwill

Gooawill s test annually for :mpairment and carried at cost 'ess accumulated imparrment
losses, if any. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synerg-es of the combination.
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there Is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
tne impairment loss 1s allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 1s not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an entity acquired, the difference
(i.e. negative goodwill) is recognised in the income statement after reassessment.

(c) Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s recognised when it 15 probable that the economic benei.ts will flow to the Group
and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably. Revenue is recognised in
income statement as follows

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. )

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Government subsidies and value added tax refunded

Government subsidies are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance
that the subsidies will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with
Subsidies re'ating to expenses incurred by the Group are deferred and recognised in the
income statement over the period necessary to match them with the expenses they are
intended to compensate. Subsidies relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset so that the subsidies are recognised
as income over the ives of the corresponding depreciable assets by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Value added tax refunded is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that it will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it

Property, plant and equipment

Land held under operating leases and buildings thereon, where the fairr values of the
leasehold interest in the land and buildings cannot be measured separately at the inception
of the lease and the building 1s not clearly held under an operating lease, are treated
as finance lease and included in leasehold land and buiidings at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Other property. plant and equipment other than construction in progress are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and imparrment losses. Cost includes expenditure that 1s
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the
asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the income statement for the year in which they are incurred

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-iine method to allocate the cost less impairment
loss of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life at the following annual
rates

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the unexpired lease term of lease and
their estimated useful lives of no more than SO years
Leasehold improvements 5% - 20%
Plant and machinery 10% - 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 5% - 20%
office equipment
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of the 1tem s allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

The assets’ residual values, usetul lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e)  Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is wiitten down immediately 1o its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount,

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount
and are included in the income statement.

Construction-m-progress represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 1f any. Cost
includes the costs of construction and acquisition, and borrowing costs capitalised {note
4{k)). No provision for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until such time as
the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred to respective categories of property, plant and
equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

(f) Investment properties

Invesiment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation
On 'nitial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, mcluding any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of investment properties are included in income statement for the period in
which they arise.

An investment property 1s derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the ditfetence
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
income statement in the year in which the item 1s derecognised.

(@) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or
joint control over its management. including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions. Investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and 1s initially recognised at cost. The Group's investment in an associate includes
any goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accurnulated impairment losses.

The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits o: losses is recognised in the
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other long-term interest that, in
substance. form part of the Group's net investment in the associate, the Group does not
recognise further losses. unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate,

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
{(h)  Jointly controlled entity

Joint venture arrangement that involves the establishment of a separate entity in which
venturers have joint control over the economic activity of the entity is referred to as jointly
controlied entity.

The Group recognises its interest in jointly controlled entity using equity method of
accounting and is initially recognised at cost. The Group's investment in a jointly controlled
entity includes any goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment
losses

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, habilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in income statement.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its jointly controlled entity are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred

(i) Operating leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental payments/receipts under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the terms oi the respective leases.

G} Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group companies are presented in the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the group company operates (its functional
cuirency). For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the
results, cash flows and financial position of each group companies are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency and presentation currency for the
consolidated financiat statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual group companies, transactions in
currencies other tnan the group company’s functional currency (i.e. foreign currencies) are
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting pertod, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at ‘air value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value is determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(0}

(k)

m

(m)

Foreign currencies (Cont.nued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are recognised tn income statement, except for exchange difierences
arising on monetary items that forms pait of the Company's investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange difierences are reclassiiied to other comprehensive
income in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in income
statement except for differences arnising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, ‘n which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in other comprehensive income

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabitities
of the Group's foreign operations are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of reporting period. Income and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the Group's exchange fluctuation reserve in equity. Such translation
ditferences are recognised in income statement in the year in which the foreign operation 1s
disposed of

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition
of a foreign operation before 1 January 2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency
items of the acquirer and reported using historical cost prevailing at the date of acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or production of assets
which require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets is deducted from borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are recognised 1n income statement in the period
in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense in
income statement when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
Income taxes

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit ditters from
profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and 1t further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and habilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill o from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and labilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associate and jointly contiolled entity, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period. Deferred tax 1s charged or
credited to income statement, except when it relates to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which case, the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income

(n) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(1 Trademarks

Trademarks are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impaiment losses. Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful fives of not more than ten years.

Gains or losses ansing from derecognition of an asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised i the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

. (1) Patents

Patents are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
remaining useful lives of sixteen years

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
(i} Research and development expenditures

Expend:ture on research activities is recognised as an expense in the pe’iod in which it
is incurred

An snternally-generated intangible asset arising from development expenditure is
recognised only if it is anticipated that the development costs incurred on a clearly-
defined project will be recovered through future commercial activity. The resultant
asset 1s amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life of not more than five
years, and carried at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses :

The amount mitially recognised for internally-generated intangibie asset 15 the sum
of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure 15 charged to income statement in the period in which it 15
incurred

Impairment of assets excluding goodwill and financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
following assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased

- Intangible assets other than goodwill

- Property, plant and equipment

- Land use rights

- Interests in subsidiaries

- Interest in an associate

- Interest in a jointly controlled entity

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset I1s estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs

Recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. in assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks speaific to the asset.

if the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than

its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Impairment of assets excluding goodwill and financial assets (Continued)

Where an :mpa'rment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset {cash-
generating unit} 15 increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so tnat
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impa'rment loss been recogn:sed ‘or the asset {casn-generating un-t) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in income statement

Land use rights

Land use r.ghts represent up-front payments to acquire 'ong term interests in lessee-occupied
properties These payments are stated at cost less accumuiated amortisation and impairment
losses, f any. Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the terms of the respective leases.

inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises a:l
costs of purchase and, where applicable, costs of conversion and other costs that have been
incurred in bringing the :nventories 1o their present location and condition, 1s calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisabie value represents tne estimated selling price
In the ordinary and usual course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Write down s made for deteriorated, damaged.
obsolete and slow moving inventories

Financial instruments

financial assets and iinancial liabilties are recognised on tne statement of financial position
when a group company becomes a party to tne contractual provisions of the instrument
fF:nancial assets and financial liabilities are initally measured at fair value Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acaursition or :ssue of financial assets and f.nancial
liabilit.es (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financal assets or financial
fabilites, as appropr:ate, on initial recognition Transaction costs airectly attributable 1o the
acquistion of fnancial assets or financia! liabities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in income statement.

i) financial assets

The Group's financiai assets are classif:ed into one of the three categories, comprising
financ-al assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and
avarable-for-sale financial assets All reqular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recogn-sed and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or saies of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. The
accounting poicies adopted in respect of each category of financial assets are set out
below.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Financial instruments (Continued)

0]

(1)

financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair vaiue through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent financial assets held for
trading if:

. they have been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
future; or

. they are part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

. they are derivatives that are not designated as ef{ective hedging instruments

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in the
income statement in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or,
loans and receivables. The Group designated its unlisted investment fund as available-
for-sale financial assets.

Subsequent to init‘al recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at
fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in available-for-sale investment reserve within equity, until the financial
asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative
ga:n or loss previously recognised in equity is reclassified from equity to income
statement

impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for objective evidence of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the esumated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
impacted

S7
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Financial instruments (Continued}

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Obsective evidence that an asset 15 impaired :ncludes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group which inciudes the following loss events:

. significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

. 3 breach of contract, such as a default or delinguency 1n nterest or principa.
payments;

. granting concession to a debtor because of debtors’ financial difficulty;

. 1t beccming probabie that the debtor will enter pankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; and

. a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an
equity instrument below 115 costs.

For lecans and receivables, an impairment loss I1s recognised in income statement
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impawed, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s cairying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate, where the effect
of discounting 1s material. The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of loss is recognised as administration
expenses. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for the receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against administration expenses.

Assessment of impairment loss 1s made collectively where financial assets carried at
amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and
have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience
for assets with credt risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

1f 1n a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed in income statement. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the assets carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been getermined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

For available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss that has been recognised
in other comprehensive income 1s reclassified from equity to income statement. The
amount of the cumulative loss that s recognised in income statement is the difference
between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
asset previously recognised in income statement. Impairment losses recognised in
income statement in respect of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed
in income statement. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in available-for-sale
investment reserve within equity.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) Financial instruments (Continued)
in}  Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments .ssued by a group company are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an eguity instrument. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residua! interest in the assets of the group company after

deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
uabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

fFinancial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represent financial liabilities held
for trading if:

. they have been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
future; or
. they are derivatives that are not designated as effective hedging instruments

Gains or losses on financial habilities held for trading are recognised In the incorme
statement.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in the
income statement in the per.od in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities of the Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method

Equity instruments

Equity instruments 1ssued by a group company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs

Financial quarantee contracts

A financial guarantee is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument. The Group does not recognise liabilities for financial guarantees at
inception, but performs a liability adequacy test at the end of each reporting period
by comparing its net liability regarding the financial guarantee with the amount
that would be required if the financial guarantee were to result in a present legal
or constructive obligation. If the habulity is less than its present legal or constructive
obligation amount, the entire difference is recognised in the income statement.

The Group regards its financial guarantee contiacts provided in respect of credit
facilties granted by financial institutions to certain customers of the Group as
mnsurance contracts.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(4]

(s)

Y]

Financial instruments (Continued)
(iv)  Effectuve interest method

The effective interest method 1s a method of calculatng the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments thiough the expected life of the
financ:al asset or liability, or where appropr.ate, a shorter pevlod"

(v) Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to recewe cash flows from the
assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is recognised 1n income statement

Financial Kabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
1S recognised in Income statement.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
tegal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event which will probably result
in an outflow of economic benetits that can be reasonably estimated

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outfiow of economic benefits 1s remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will on'y be confirmed by the occarrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits 1s remote.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received from employees determined by reference to the fair value
of share options granted at the grant date is expensed in income statement on a straight line
basis over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to ultimateiy vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, 1s recognised in income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve,
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continyed)
{t) Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retamed profits.

() Dividends

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they are proposed and declared by the
directors. Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation
of retained profits within capital and reserves in the statement of financial position. Final
dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below,

(a) Inventories

Note 4(q) describes that inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value

The Group has a policy to estimate the provision for inventories based on their aging
Management reviews the inventory aging listing on a periodical basis for those aged
inventories. This involves comparison of carrying value of the aged inventory items with the
respective net realisable value to ascertain whether allowance s required to be made for any
obsolete and slow-moving items. In addition, physical counts on all inventones are carried
out on a periodical basis in order to determine whether allowance need to be made in respect
of any obsolete and defective inventories identified. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the catrying amount of inventories and the
write down of inventortes in the period in which such estimate is changed.

(b)  Bills and accounts receivable

Note 4(r) describes that bills and accounts recewvable are measured at initial recognition
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the efiective interest
method. Impairment loss on an account recewable is recognised in income statement when
there 15 objective evidence that the asset is impaied. The Group adopts a prudent approach
in selecting its customers in order to mirumise its credit risk. All new customer accounts with
credit terms are reviewed by the finance department in areas including credu ratings, credit
history. and sales amount, etc for the purpose of making an assessment of the payment term
or assigning a credit limit if applicable
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5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)  Bills and accounts receivable (Continued)

The Group has implemented a credit policy with an aim to maintain the accounts receivable
balance at an acceptable level. The accounts recewable will be reviewed by the Group's
senior management of the finance department on a monthly basis. impairment loss Is
recognised and estimated when the recoverability of the outstanding debts is uncertain
after taking into account various consideration including the aging of the debts, the current
creditworthiness, the historical loss experience for debts with similar credit risk characteristics
and the current market condition. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference wili impact the carrying amount of bills and accounts receivable
and the impairment losses on receivables in the period In which such estimate is changed

{c) Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets 1o the extent of HK$3,353,000 (2009: HK$3.467,000) in respect of
13x losses and other deductible temporary differences of certain subsidiaries have been
recognised in the financial statements as management considers, taking Into account certain
tax planning arrangements and profit iorecast of these subsidiaries, it i1s probable that future
taxable profit will be availabie against which the tax losses and other deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Where the expectation 1s different from the original est:mate.
such difference will impact the recogmition of deferred tax assets and tax expense n the
period in which such estimate is changed.

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

As at 31 March 2010, the recoverable amounts of the intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment of a loss-making subsidiary principally engaged in manutacture and
sale of die-casting machines have been determined based on value in use calculation. This
calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a period of one year. Cash flows beyond one year are extrapolated for two years
assuming a growth rate of 15% per annum for sales. The discount rate used 15 15% which
reflected management's estimate of the specific risks relating to the subsidiary.

As such, impairment losses on intangible assets of HK$1,499,000 (note 14) and property.
plant and equipment of HK$3,501,000 (note 15) were recognised in the income statement
during the year ended 31 March 2010.

A sensitivity analysis of significant assumptions 1s performed by management. Had
growth rate of 20% per annum been maintained per year, the entire impairment losses of
HK$5,000,000 recognised in the cufrent year's income statement would not be required. Had
the growth rate of 10% per annum been maintained per year, the impairment losses would
have been increased by HK$5,000,000

A reasonably possibie change in discount rate as estimated by management would have no
maternial impact on the impairment loss recognised.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2009, the recoverable amounts of the intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment of another loss-making subsidiary principaily engaged in manufacture ana
sale of die-casting machines have been determined based on value n use calculation. This
calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a period of one year and on the basis that there 1s new source of revenue from
performing subcontracting work for group companies. Cash flows beyond one year are
extrapolated for four years with no growth rate for sales and subcontracting work. The
discount rate used is 15% which reflected management’s estimate of the specific risks
relating to the subsidiary.

As such, impairment losses on intangible assets of HK$327,000 (note 14) and property. piant
and equipment of HK$5,168,000 (note 15) were recognised in the income statement during
the year ended 31 March 2009. Management has reperformed impairment review on these
assets as at 31 March 2010 and considers no additional impairment loss is required.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” with eifect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components
of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maxer (i.e. the Boara of
Directors) in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance

The Group is organised into two main reportable segments.
0] Manufacture and sales of machinery and equipment
(i) Steei casting

The Group determines its operating segments based upon the internal reports reviewed by the
management that are used to make strategic decisions. Segment results represent the profit/{loss)
for the period in each reportable segment. This is the measure reported to the Group's management
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

The measure used ‘or reporting segment results is “profit/(loss) from operations”, i.e profit/{loss)
before finance income, finance costs and income taxes. To arrive at the profit/{loss) from operations,
the Group's profit/{loss) are further adjusted fo: items not specif.cally atiributed to individual
segments, such as share of results of an associate and a jointly controlled entity.




64

LK. TECHNOLOGY HOLOINGS LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2009/10

Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2010

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2010 are as follows
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Manufacture
and sales of
machinery
and
equipment  Steel casting  Eliminations Consolidated
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000
TURNOVER
External sales 1,397,997 10,367 - 1,408,364
Inter-segment saies* 44 15,749 (15,793) -
Total sa'es 1,398,041 26,116 (15,793) 1,408,364
Other revenue 21,679 4 - 21,683
Total revenue 1,419,720 26,120 (15,793) 1,430,047
! Inter-segment sales are charged at
prevailing market rates.
RESULTS
Segment results 73,939 {7.642) - 66,297
Finance income 1,678
Finance costs (35,790)
Share of foss of an associate (4,079)
Share of loss of a jointly conirolled entity (964)

Profit before income taxes

27,142
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2009 are as follows

Manufacture
and sales of
machinery
and
equipment  Steel casting  Eliminations Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
TURNOVER
External sales 1,192,487 - - 1,192,487
Inter-segment sales® 98 - (98) -
Total sales 1,192,585 - (98) 1,192,487
Other revenue 25,934 - - 25,934
Total revenue 1,218,519 - (98) 1,218,421
* Inter-segment sales are charged at prevading
market rates
RESULTS
Segment results (5,550) (3.012) - {8,562)
Finance income 3,921
Finance costs (42,022)
Share of loss of an associate (1.227)
Share of loss of a jointly conirolled entity (8)

Loss before income taxes (47,898)
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Segment assets and liabilities
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The following 1s an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reporiable segments.

As at 31 March 2010

Manufacture
and sales of
machinery
and
equipment
HKS'000

ASSETS

Segment assets 2,217,665
interest 1n an associate
Unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES
Segment habilities 1,523,564
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

As at 31 March 2009

Steel casting
HKS 000

200,978

91.974

Consolidated
HKS000

2,418,643
71,397
30,218

2,520,258

1,615,538
15,948

1,631,486

Manufacture
and sales of
machinery
and
equipment  Steel casting Consolidated
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ASSETS
Segment assets 1,827,721 166,186 1,993,907
Interest in an associate 75,476
Interest in a jointly controlled entity 3,078
Unallocated assets 30.820
Consolidated total assets 2,103,281
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 1,128,959 56,054 1,185,013
Unallocated liabilities 50,641

Consolidated total liabilities

1,235,654
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:
- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate assets. interest in an

associate, interest in a jointly controlled entity, amount due from an associate, derwvative
financial instruments, available-for-sale financial assets and deferred 1ax assets.

- all liabilitres are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate liabilities, amount due
to an associate, derivative financial instruments, tax payable and deferred tax liabilities.

- liabuiities for which segments are jointly liabie are allocated in proportion to segment assets

Other segment information

The following amounts are included in the measure of segment results or assets

Manufacture

and sales of

machinery

and
For the year ended 31 March 2010 equipment  Steel casting Consolidated

HKS$'000 HKS'000
Additions to non-current assets”® 68,427 79,080 147,507
Depreciation and amortisation 80,397 4907 85,304
Write down of inventories 3,940 - 3,940
Impairment losses on accounts receivable 5,554 395 5.949
Impairment losses on intangible assets 1,499 - 1,499
Impairment losses on property, plant and

equipment 3,501 - 3,501

Manufacture

and sales of

machinery

and
For the year ended 31 March 2009 equipment  Steel casting Consolidated
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Additions to non-current assets”™ 214,218 115,430 329,648
Depreciation and amortisation 79.440 932 80,372
Write down of inventories 9,158 - 9,158
impairment losses on accounts recewable 4,760 - 4,760
impairment losses on intangible assets 327 - 327

impairment losses on property, plant and

equipment 5,168 - 5,168

Non-current assets exclude interest in an associate, interest in a jointly controfled entity, deferred fax
assets and financial instruments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information (Continued)

Revenue from major products and customers:

None of the customers of the Gioup individually accounted for 10% or more of the Group's
revenue for both of the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2010

Sales of die-casting machines and plastic injection moulding machines accounted for approxmmately
70% (2009: 70%) and 15% (2009: 11%) of the Group's sales for the year ended 31 March 2010
respectively.

Geographical information

The Group’s total revenue by geographical location 1s determined by the final destination of delivery
of the products and the geographical location of non-current assets i1s determined by where the
assets are located and are detailed below:

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets”

2010 2009 2010 2009
HKS000 HK$°'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

The Peopie’s Republic of China (the "PRC") 1,188,142 748,986 809,107 772,705
Hong Kong - - 23,543 20,143
Europe 115,544 264,962 40,870 58,288
Middle and South America 38,198 64,912 - -
North America 50,450 73,991 556 434
Other countries 37,713 65,570 2,513 1,691

1,430,047 1,218,421 876,589 853,261

Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial instruments.
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TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE, OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES)

The turnover, other revenue and other gainsilosses) recognised during the year are as follows

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Turnover
Sales of machines and related accessories and equipment
net of returns and discounts 1,397,997 1,192,487
Steel casting 10.367 -
1,408,364 1,192,487
Other revenue
Value added tax refunded 11,634 8,573
Other subsidies from government 6,814 11,088
Rental income 1,410 1,544
Sundry income 1.825 4,729
21,683 25,934
Total revenue 1,430,047 1,218,421
Other gains/(losses)
Net foreign exchange losses (986) (850)
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of investment properties 3,770 {3.840)
Net fair value gain/(loss) on denvative financial instruments 1,330 (3.290)
{Losses)/gains on disposals of property, plant and
equipment (248) 387
Gain on disposal of a jointly controlled entity 659 -
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over cost of
acquisition - 17,452
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets - 392
Others (652) -
3.873 10,251

1,433,920 1,228,672
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Profit/(loss) from operations has been arrived at after
charging/(crediting)
Other staff costs 239,009 245,405
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 25,949 28,282
Share-based payments - 168
Total staff costs (Including directors” emoluments) 264,958 273,855
Amortisation of:
- Land use nghts 2,666 1,680
- Less: Amount capitalised in property, plant and equipment (2,152) -
514 1,680
- Trademarks' 1,211 1.369
- Patents’ 178 -
- Development costs and others? 4,707 4,547
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment 78,694 72,776
Total amortisation and depreciation 85,304 80,372
Research and development costs . 30,967 29,547
Less: Government grants (3.857) {4,741)
Net research and development costs 27,110 24,806
Auditor’s remuneration
Audit fees 1,960 1,904
Urderprovisior of audit iees in prior year 456 180
Others 602 601
3,018 2,685
Gross renta! income from investment properties (1.410) (1,544)
Less: Direct operating expenses 189 147
(1.221) (1,397)
Gross rental income from machinery leasing (Included in turnover) (10.800) (10.800)
Less: Direct operating expenses? 7.845 7.845
(2,955) (2,955)
Cost of sales 1,025,452 887,564
Impairment losses on intangible assets' 1,499 327
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment’ 3,501 5.168
Impairment losses on accounts receivable 5,949 4,760
Write down of inventories? 3,940 9,158
Provision for a legal claim - 2.841

Included in administration expenses
? Included in cost of sales
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of each of tne directors are as foilows:

Salaries Retirement
and other Diretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonuses contributions

fMgie 1
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

Year ended
31 March 2010
Executive directors

Share-based
payments

HKS 000

Total

HKS$'000

Chong Siw Yin - 2,730 - 12 - 2,742
Cao Yang - 1972 - 89 - 2,061
Chung Yuk Ming - 1,682 - 12 - 1,694
Wong Pui Chun - 1,088 - 12 - 1,100
- 1.472 - 125 - 1.597
independent
non-executive
directors
wow Seow Chay 180 - - - - 180
Lur M ng Wah 270 - - - - 270
Tsang Yiu Keung 270 - - - - 270
Chan Wah Tip 270 - - - - 270
990 - - - - 990
990 7412 - 125 - 8,587
Year ended
31 March 2009
Executive directors
Chong Siw Yin - 2,730 500 12 14 3,256
Cao Yang - 1,448 S00 83 14 2,045
Liu Zhao Ming (Note ii} - 845 - 22 14 881
Chung Yuk Ming - 1,682 500 12 14 2,208
Wong Pui Chun
{Note i) - 495 - S - 500
- 7.200 1,500 ‘34 56 8,890
Independent
non-executive
directors
Low Seow Chay 180 - - - - 180
Lui Ming Wah 233 - - - - 233
Tsang Y Keung 270 - - - - 270
Chan Wah Tip 270 - - - - 270
953 - - - - 953
953 7.200 1,500 134 56 9,843
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a)  Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Notes
0] Discretionary bonuses related 1o the performance of the Group and were determined by the
Remuneration Committee
(ii) Mr. Liu Zhao Ming resigned as executive director on 1 Noverber 2008
(ni) Ms. Wong Pui Chun was appointed as executive direcior on 7 November 2008
No directors of the Company waived any emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2010
(2009:Nit),
(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five indivduals with the highest emoiuments in the: Group, three (2009: three) were
directors of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 9(a)
above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2009: two) individuals were as follows:
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Salaries and other allowances 2,836 886
Discretionary bonuses - 2,181
Retirement scheme contributions 108 138
Share-based payments - 19
2,944 3,224
The emoluments of one of the above two individuals were within the band irom
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 and the emoluments of the remaining one were within the
band from HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 for the years ended 3t March 2009 and 2010
10. FINANCE COSTS - NET

PUBLIC FILE

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Finance income
Interest income on short-term bank deposits {1.678) (3,921
Finance costs:
Interests on bank loans and overdrafts wholiy repayable
within five years 36.077 42,022
Less: Capitalised in property, plant and equipment (Note) (287) -
35,790 42,022
34,112 38,101

Note:

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on general borrowing pool and were calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 3 5% (2009: nil} 10 expenditure on qualitying assets
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INCOME TAXES

2010 2009
HKS000 HK$°000

The tax charge/(credit) for the year comprises

Current income tax

- PRC :income tax 15,616 6,522
- Hong Kong Profits Tax - -
- (Over)underprovision in prior years (2.473) 109
13,142 6,631
Deferred taxation (Note 20) 10,765 (2,316)
23,907 4.315

In accordance with the applicable Income Tax Law of the PRC {for Enterprises with Foreign
Investment and Foreign Enterprises, certain of the Company's subsidiaries registered in the PRC are
exempted from income tax for two years starting from their first profit making year after utiisation
of tax loss brought forward and are entitled to 50% relief on the income tax in the following three
years. In addition, certain of these subsidiaries are entitled to additional tax concessions granted by
local tax bureau. These subsidiaries are subject to income tax at rates ranging from 12.5% to 25%
(2009: 12 5% to 25%) during the year.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company which have unexpired tax holidays, continue to be tax
exempted. For those subsidiaries, which are still entitled to the 50% relief on income tax, the
tax rate for the year is 12.5%. For those subsidiaries with tax holidays expired (other than those
approved to be Advanced Technology Enterprises as discussed in the next paragraph), the tax rates
for the year are 20% or 22% or 25% (2009: 18% or 20% or 25%). The tax rate of the subsidiaries
subject 1o the tax rate of 20% or 22% will progressively increase 10 25%.

Certain subsidiaries in Shenzhen, Zhongshan and Shanghar were certfied as Advanced Technology
Enterprises and are entitled to a concess:onary tax rate of 15% for three years commencing from 1
January 2008. They are entitled to re-apply for the preferential tax treatment when the preferential
1ax period expires.

Under the Income Tax Law of the PRC, dividends out of profits earned on or after 1 january 2008
from the subsidiaries in the PRC distributed to the Group will be subject to dividend withholding
tax. The implementation rules provide for the dividend withholding tax to be at 10% unless reduced
by tax treaty. Pursuant to a double tax arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong, companies
incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to a dividend withholding tax rate of 5%. Provision for
withholding tax is included in deferred taxation.
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11. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Subsidiaries established in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at a rate of 16.5%
(2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable proiits for the year. No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
provided for the year ended 31 March 2010 as the subsidianes in Hong Kong either have unutilised
13x losses available to set off current year's estimated assessable profits or have no assessab'e profits
for the current year. No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the year ended 31 March
2009 as there were no assessable profits arose for that year

No provision for overseas income tax has been made as the Group has no assessable profits subject
1o overseas income tax for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009.

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) aoplicable to profit/{loss) before income taxes using the
applicable tax rates for relevant tax jurisdictions to the tax expense is as follows:

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$°'000
Profit/(loss) before income taxes 27,142 (47,898)
Tax cnarge/(credit) at applicable tax rates for relevant
tax jurisdictions 9510 (11,631)
Effect of preferential 1ax rates applicable to relevant jurisdictions (15.422) 817
Effect of tax concession (812) (1,958)
Effect of non-taxable income (2.136) (6.377)
Effect of non-deductible expenses 6,362 4,552
Effect of changes in tax rates (232) 1,536
Effect of unrecognised tax losses 23,027 12,908
Effect of other temporary differences not recognised 27 381
Write-down of unrecoverable deferred-tax assets 1,700 -
Effect of undistributed profits of subsidiaries in the PRC 4,887 3,708
(Over)/underprovision of current income tax in prior years (2,473) 109
Others (476) 270
Tax charge for the year 23,907 4,315

There was no tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive income for the years
ended 3t March 2010 and 2009.
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DIVIDENDS

Dwidends paid or payable to owners of the Company attributable to the year are as follows:

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000

2010 interm dividend of nil
{2009: ‘nterim dividend of HKO 4 cents per share} - 4,051

The directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2010
(2009: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic

The calculation of the basic earmings/(loss) per share is based on the consolidated profit
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$20,323,000 (2009: loss of HK$43,671,000)
and on the weighted average number of approximately 1,014,668,000 (2009:

1,012,603,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2009

Profi/{loss) attributable to owners of the Company
(HK$'000} 20,323 (43,671)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
(shares in thousands) 1,014,668 1,012,603

Basic earnirgs/{loss) per share (HK cents) 2.0 (4.3)

<
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13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2010 is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potentiai ordinary shares. Shares issuable under the share option schemes of the Company
are the only dilutive potential ordinary shares. A calculation is made in order to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average
annual market share price of the Company’s ordinary shares) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of oramary shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued

assuming the exercise of the share options
2010

Profit attributable to*owners of the Company (HKS 000} 20,323
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (shares in thousands) 1,014,668
Effect of deemed 1ssue of ordinary shares under the Company's

share option schemes for nil consideration (shares in thousands) 5,724
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) (shares in thousands} 1,020,389
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) 2.0

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2009 was the same as basic loss per
share as the effect of the assumed conversion of the outstanding share options was anti-
dilutive.
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Group
Development
costs
Goodwill Trademarks Patents  and others Total
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(Note)

Cost
At 1 Apnl 2008 2,799 556 - - 3.355
Exchange realignment - (644) - (1,406) (2,050)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - 4,305 - 9,219 13,524
Additions - 295 - 5,770 6,065
At 31 March 2009 2,799 4,512 - 13,583 20,894
Exchange realignment - 315 - 1,007 1,322
Addntions - - 3,420 4,363 7,783
At 31 March 2010 2,799 4,827 3,420 18,953 29,999
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 Apnl 2008 - 181 - - 181
Excharge realignment - (115} - (414) (529)
Amortisation during the year - 1,369 - 4,547 5916
Impairment loss recognised (Note 5(d)} - 327 - - 327
At 31 March 2009 - 1,762 - 4133 5.895
Exchange realignment - 73 - 245 318
Amortisation during the year - 1.211 178 4,707 6,096
Impairment loss recognised (Note 5(d); - 229 - 1,270 1,499
At 31 March 2010 - 3.275 178 10,355 13,808
Net book value
At 31 Maich 2009 2,799 2,750 - 9,450 14,999
At 31 March 2010 2,799 1,552 3,242 8,598 16,191

Note

The Group tests annually whether the goodwill ansing from acquisition of a profit-making subsidiary principally
engaged in manufacture and sale of die-casting machine has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 4(b). The recoverable amount of the subsidiary (i.e. cash-generating un:t), to
which the goodwill relates, has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation. The calculation is based
on a one year profit forecast approved by the management. The cash flows beyond the one year period are
extrapolated for five years assuming no growth and no material change in the existing scope of business,
business environment and market conditions The discount rate applied 1o the cash flow projections is 10%
(2009: 10%) and management believes it reflects specific risks relating to the subsidiary.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any oi the key assumptions including the projecied
sales and gross margin and discount rate would not result in the carrying amount of goodwill exceeding its

recoverable amount
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group
Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures

landand  Construction Leasehold Mantand  and office Motor

buildings  in progress improvements  machinery  equipment  vehicles Total

HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKSG00  HK$'000  HKS'G00
Cost
At 1 Al 2008 280 17,250 2527 309,856 39,349 38,857 547,150
XCNaNQE 123 GRm 2t 4028 392 3953 1580 213 3] 2784
Acquinion o 3 sehsidiary 516 - 28,610 23,485 4947 43 68,396
Adcrions £.880 1800 A3 44,760 4184 1428 232497
Disposals - - 152) (€23 207) (5814 (65%)
Reclassrcaiion 27 3.622) - 332 {283) 1382 -
Az 31 March 2009 233,069 189,042 0,345 388,678 4a4.m 35,236 544,244
Exchange rea. gnment 374 - 2051 2,15 S8¢ 43 €0
Addios 13523 24791 1801 31,126 5478 219 20,058
Government subsidy recened - - - (39,235) - - (e
Disoosals - - (293: (687) (462) 5850 4.027)
Recassiiicaiion 105,946 {180,686) 233 73,946 556 5 -
At 31 March 2010 352,912 3,147 §4,547 456,583 53,92 35,678 986,796
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1 Apnil 2008 46,362 - 9378 136,549 2,202 2109 236600
Exchange reehigrrent 1,01 - 227 15°8 165 € 283
Charge tor the year 11,554 - 1,40 40,057 8,581 544 1,176
Irpa:ment loss recognised (ote S(c}) 1,892 - 3% 2,85% 3 - 5.168
Writen dac 00 ¢3posals - - 13) {523 asn @l 49y
A 31 Mach 2009 55829 - 16578 84N NI BE I
Exchange realigamen: 1) - 2% 519 185 2 1,058
Chaige tor the year 13,413 - 109 43,830 1852 44719 78,694
Impz 1mer: ks reccgnised (Noie S(c)) - - 243 m 54 - 3,501
Writien back on dsposals - - (3€) {585) 347 2,150) 13,128
At 31 March 2010 16,256 - 26,385 225,058 e 6,008 392,586
Net book value
A7 31 March 2009 1.140 189,042 34,267 208,25 16,943 11,582 632280
At 31 March 2010 276,656 3347 B8 231,525 15,047 9613 594210

Certain property. plant and equipment are pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group as
detailed in note 36(a).

The leasehold land and buildings as at 31 March 2010 incluoe the cost of leasehold land and
buildings situated in Hong Kong under medium term leases of HK$7,434,000 (2009: HK$7.434,000)
where their fair values cannot practically be separated
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group
HK$°'000
At fair value
At t April 2008 25,650
Exchange realignment 330
Decrease n fair value during the year (3.840)
At 31 March 2009 22,140
Increase in fair value during the year 3,770
At 31 March 2010 25,910
Group
2010 2009
HKS 000 HK$000
The carrying amount of investment properties shown
above comprises:
Leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong under medium
term leases 11,500 8.280
Leasehold land and buildings in the PRC under medium
term leases 14,410 13,860
25,910 22,140

The fair value of the investment properties at 31 March 2010 has been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on that date by Messrs, Jones Lang LaSaile Sallmanns Limited, being
independent professional surveyors and valuers not connected with the Group. Messrs Jones tang
LaSalle Sallmanns Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS"), and
has appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS Valuation Standard on Properties (First
Edition), was made on market vatue basis calculated by reference to net rental income allowing for
reversionary income potential of the prope-ties or direct comparison approach by making reierence
to comparable sales transaction as available in the relevant market.

One of the investment properties is pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group as detailed in
note 36(a).

10,101

<
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17. LAND USE RIGHTS
Group
HK$'000
Cost
At 1 April 2008 80,582
Exchange realignment 1,832
Additions 8,566
At 31 March 2009 90,980
Additions 59,626
At 31 March 2010 150,606
Amortisation
At 1 Apnil 2008 5815
Exchange realignment 132
Amortisation during the year 1,680
At 31 March 2009 7.627
Amortisation during the year 2,666
At 31 March 2010 10,293
Net book value
At 31 March 2009 83.353
At 31 March 2010 140,313
Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
The carrying amount of land use rights shown above
are located in the PRC and comprises
Long term leases 12,293 10,078
Medium term leases 128,020 73,275
140,313 83,353

Certain land use rights are pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group as detailed in note

36(a).
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Share of net assets 68,364 72,443
Goodwili arising from aaditional capital contribution 3,033 3,033
71,397 75,476

As at 31 March 2010, the Group has equity interest in the following associate

Attributable

Form of Place of equity

busil blish Particulars of  interest held Principal
Name of entity structure and operation  registered capital by the Group activities
eRHEORNGHADA  Lmited fiabilty  PRC RMB60,000,000 35% lron ore miming
Fuxia Li Cnang Steel & lron company and simelting

Foundry Co., L1d *
The £nglish name is made for identification purpose only

The summarised financial information in respect of the associate is set out below:

Group

2010 2009

HKS'000 HK$°000

Total assets 534,878 290,849
Total liabilities (339,551) (83,869)
Net assets 195,327 206,980
Group's share of net assets of the associate 68,364 72,443
Revenue 221,593 -
Loss for the year (11,654) (3,505)

Group's share of loss of the associate for the year (4,079) (1,227)

<
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19. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

Group

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$°000 '
Share of net ligbilities - (3) !
Loan to a jointly controlled entity - 3,081 H

- 3,078

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had equity interest in the following jointly controlled entny:

Place of Nominal value Attributable :
incorporation of issued share equity interest Principal |
Name of entity and operation capital held by the Group activities |
i
Pang Cheung Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$10,000 50% Investment '

holding

On 31 March 2010, the Group had disposed all of its 50% interests in the jointly controlled entity
at a cash consideration of HK$2,773,000.

The summarnised financial information in respect of the jointly controlled entity is set out below:

Group

2010 2009

HKS'000 HK$°000

Non-current assets - 29
Current assets - 3,386
Non-current liabilities - (3.091)
Current liabilities - (330}
Net labilities - (6)
Group's share of net liabilities of the jointly controlled entity - (3)
Revenue 239 3
Loss for the year (1,929) (17)
Group’s share of loss of the jointly controlled entity for the year (964) 8)
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20. DEFERRED TAXATION

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$ 000 .
!
Non-current assets
Deferred tax assets 11,073 16,951 .
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax habilities (8,595} (3,708)
2,478 13,243

(a) The iollowing are the comporents of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior year:

Group |
Impairment
losses and Revaluation Other .
Unutilised other  Depreciation of i porary .
tax losses  allowances  aflowances properties  differences Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HES 060

At 1 Aprl 2008 1,849 6,268 5,005 (1,539 186€) 077
Exchange realignment - 1€ i25 (39) 22) 10
Credit{charge) to

rcome staterert

(Note 11; 1618 860 <52 €08 (1,322 2316
At 31 March 2009 3.4€7 1210 5,682 (566) .10 13,243
Ciedwicharge) to

income sigiement

{Note 11} {1,776} §93 794 (1i0) {10,56¢) {10,765)

At 31 March 2010 1,691 8,163 6476 {1,076) (12,776} 1478




84

PUBLIC FILE
FOLIO 96

L K. TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED » ANNUAL REPORT 2009/10

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2010

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

(a)  (Continued)

At tne end of reporting period, the Group has the {ollowing unutilises tax ‘osses available
for offsetting against future taxable profits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised:

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Tax losses expire;

Within 5 years 107,528 48,562
Over 5 years 24,594 7.546
Without expiry date 25,464 10,457
157.586 66.565

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the above tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams

(b)  As mentioned in note 11, dividends out of profits earned on or after 1 January 2008 from
the subsidiaries in the PRC distributed to the Group will be subject to dividend withholding
tax. Accordingly, deferred tax liabilities of HK$8,595,000 {2009  HK$3,708,000) is recognised
during the year and included in other temporary differences.
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BILLS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Group

2010 2008

HKS'000 HK$'000

Gross accounts receivable 467,757 341,947
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (37.760) (31,862)
429,997 310,085

Bills receivable 63,511 41,652
Less: Balance due after one year shown as non-current assets (6,156) -
487,352 351,737

The following 1s an aging analysis of the gross accounts recevable at the end of reporting period:

Group

2010 2009

HKS 000 HK$'000

Within 90 days 287,735 159,782
91-180 days 76,344 46,418
181-365 days 24,117 57,253
Over one year 79,561 78,494
467,757 341,947

The maturity date of the bitis receivable is generally between o7e to six months

Goods sold to customers are either made on cash on delivery or on credit. Customers in general are
required to pay deposits upon purchase orders are placed, the remaining balances will be payable
upon goods are delivered to customers. Some customers are granted a credit term with repayment
period ranging from one month to six months. The Group a'so sells goods to certain customers with
sales proceeds payable by instalments which normally range from 6 months to 12 months

<
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21. BILLS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The following is an analysis of accounts receivable net of impairment comprising balances impaired,
balances past due but not impaired, and balances neither past due nor impatred.

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$°000
Balances impaired:
Not past due 5,237 4,478
Past due:
Within 90 days 298 12,483
91-180 days .81 865
181-365 days 1,695 6,384
Over one year 11,354 8,701
Balances past due and impaued 15,158 28,433
Total balances impaired 20,395 32911
Balances not impaired:
Not past due 296,916 144,356
Past due:
within 90 days 58,322 51231
91-180 days 30,460 30,701
181-365 days 9,860 22,089
Over one year 14,044 28,797
Balances past due but not impaired 112,686 132,818
Total balances not impaired ' 409,602 277,174
Total accounts receivable net of impairment 429,997 310,085

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate 1o a wide range of customers for whom
there was no recent history of default. Rece:vabies that were past due but not impaired re'ate to
a large number of customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based on experience,
management believes that no impairment loss 1s necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant deterioration in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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BILLS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Movements in the allowance for impairment losses on accounts receivab'e:

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Balance at beginning of year 31,862 26,156
Exchange rea“‘gnment 38 946
Impairment losses recognised 5,949 4,760
Amounts written off as uncoflectible (89) -
Balance at end of year 37,760 31,862
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
(Restated)
Balance classi‘ied as non-current assets
Call options (Note (a}) 2,1 4,744
Balance classitied as current assets
Call options {Note (a)) 2,483 -
Interest rate swap contract (Note (b)) 187 34
2,670 34
Balance classitied as current liabilities
Put options (Note (a)) 190 -
Interest rate swap contract (Note (b)) 2,132 2.909
Foreign exchange forward contract (Note (¢)) - 398
2,322 3,307
Balance classitied as non-current liabilities
Put options (Note (a)) 1,168 2.236
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22, DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Call and put options

At 31 March 2010, the Group has entered into the following call and put option agreements
in respect of acquisition of the remaining 30% interest in a subsidiary which was 70%
acquired by the Group on 2 April 2008

Call options

On 2 Ap-il 2008, the Group entered into a cail option agreement with the minority
shareholder of a subsidiary that the Group 1s granted a first ca!! option to purchase 15%
of equity interest in the subsidiary held by the minority shareholder within the first option
period which has started since the approvat date of the financial statements of the subsidiaty
for the year ended 31 December 2009 and will last for 90 days The iirst exercise price {the
“First Exercise Price”) wili be the higher of (a) 50% of the minority snareholder's pro-quota
value of 8 times the subsidiary's net profit after taxes ‘or the year ended 31 December 2009,
provided that in no case the above value exceeding the amount of €2,500,000; and (b} S0%
of the share of capital injection of €1,500,000 paid 1n by the minority shareholder, as yearly
adjusted with the interest rate of 5% per annum.

Subject to the exercise of the first call option, the Group will have a secona call option
to purchase the remaining 15% equity Interest in the subsidiary held by the minority
shareholder within the second option period which will start since the approval date of the
financial statements of the subsidiary for the year ending 31 December 2010 and will last for
90 days. The second exercise price (the “Second Exercise Price”) is the higher of {a) 100% of
the minority shareholder’s pro-quota value of 8 times the subsidiary’s net profit after taxes
for the year ending 31 December 2010, provided that in no case the above value exceeding
the amount of €2,500,000; and (b) 50% of the share of capital njection of €1,500,000 paid
in by the minority shareholder, as yearly adjusted with the interest rate of 5% per annum

Put options

On 2 April 2008, the Group also entered into a put option agreement with the same minority
shareholder that the minority shareholder is granted a first put option to require the Group
1o purchase 15% of equity interest in the subsidiary held by the mmonity shareholder within
the first option period which has started since the approval date of the financial statements
of the subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2009 and will last for 90 days. The first
exercise price will be the same as the Frst Exercise Price of the call options

Subject to the exercise of the first put option, the minornty shareholder will have a second
put option to require the Group to purchase the remaining 15% equity interest in the
subsidiary held by the minority shareholder within the second option period which will start
since the approval date of the financial statements of the subsidiary for the year enaing
31 December 2010 and will last for 90 days. The second exescise price is the same as the
Second Exercise Price of the call options

Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group and the minority
shareholder have not yet exercised the first call option and first put option respectively.

=
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a}

Call and put options (Continued)

Valuation of the call and put options

The call and put options are measured at fair value estimated by a firm of independent
professional valuers in Hong Kong by using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model.

The inputs into the model for the vaiue of the call and put options as at 31 March 2010

were as follows

First call Second call First put Second put

option option option option

G-ant date 2 Apnil 2008 2 Apnl 2008 2 April 2008 2 Apnit 2008
Shae spot price (HK$'000) 10,967 10,967 10,967 10,967
Risk-free rate 038% 073% 0.38% 073%
Aaruaised vo'atiity 1% 5t% 41% 51%
Assumed exercise period From 1 May 2010 From 1 May 2011 From T May 2010 From 1 May 2011
10 30 Ju'y 2010 to 30 fuly 2011 to0 30 July 2010 to 30 July 2011

Exercise pr ce (HK$'000) 8,685 9,078 8,685 9,078
Value of options (HK$'000) 2,483 2 150 1,168

The mputs into the model for the value
were as foliows:

of the call and put options as at 31 March 2009

First call Second call First put Second put

option option option option

Grant date 2 April 2008 2 Apm 2008 2 April 2008 2 Apri 2008
Share soot price (HKS'000) 10,087 10,087 10,087 10,087
Risk-free rate 091% 134% 091% 1.34%
Annualised vo'atitity 52% 45% 52% 45%
Assumed exercise period From 2 April 2010 From 2 Aprit 2011 From 2 Apnl 2010 From 2 Apnl 2011
to 1 July 2010 to 1 July 201t to 1 luly 2010 to 1 July 2011

Exerc.se prce (HKS°000) 8,473 8,473 8,413 8,473
Va'ue of opt-ons /HKS'000) 3,076 1,€€8 1,367 869

<
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b} Interest rate swap contracts

The Group has entered into two interest rate swap contracts to manage Its exposure
to interest rate movements on r1ts bank borrowings One interest rate swap contract of
notional amount of HK$50,000,000 was entered to swap floating-rate borrowings to fixed-
rate borrowings at interest rate of 3% per annum. Another interest rate swap contract of
notional amount of HK$50,000,000 was entered to swap its floating-rate borrowings to
another floating-rate borrowings which is considered by manage:nent to be more favourable
under their expectation of future market conditions.

The interest rate swap contracts are measured at far value provided by the counterparty
banks.
() Foreign exchange forward contract
The foreign exchange forward contract is measured at fair value provided by the counterparty
bank.
23. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

Restricted bank balances of the Group represent deposits placed 1n banks to secure banking
facilities. The banking faciities include bank guarantees for bills payable to suppliers. letters of
credit for import and trading finance granted by the banks to the Group's customers The restricted
bank balances will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank borrowings.

At the ena of reporting period, the restricted bank balances carry interest at market rates which
range from 0.03% 10 2.79% (2009: 0.36% to 4.14%) per annum.

24. INVENTORIES

Group

2010 2009

HKS'000 HK$000

Raw materials 294,728 232,518
Work in progress 185,707 136,224
Finished goods 88,710 116,190
569,145 484,932

Less: Allowance for inventories (34,284) (30,522)

534,861 454 410




25.

26.

27.

PUBLIC FILE

LK TECHNOLOGY HOLOINGS LIMITED » ANNUAL REPCRT 2009‘% 918

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2010

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Current assets
Unlisted investment fund, at fair value 10,418 9.091

The fair value of the investment fund, which principally invests i listed securities and liquid
investments. 's determined to be the Group’s proportionate share of the investment fund's net asset
value as provided by the mvestment manager.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

Group

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000

Non-current
Deposits for acquisition of land use rights 20,776 18,772
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 7,792 3,163
28,568 21,935

Current

Other receivable for goods purchased on benalf of a customer 65,793 -
Subsidies receivable from government 4,901 - 5,345
Value added tax recevable 23,385 1,828
Trade deposits 21,144 16,442
Advances to staff for business purpose 3,807 3,090
Sundry, rental and utility deposits 2,721 2,892
Others 34,193 25,467
155,944 55,064
184,512 76,999

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits, with an
original maturity of three months or less. At the end of reporting period, the bank balances carry
interest rates ranging from 0.001% 10 1.71% (2009: 0.01% to 2.8%) per anaum.

<
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28. BILLS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK $°000
Accounts payable 366,804 . 136,782
Bills payable 158 24,645
366,962 161,427
The following is the aging analysis of the accounts payable
Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Within 90 days 327,822 70,147
91-180 days 27,791 46,608
181-365 days 1,446 8,661
Over one year 9,745 11,366
366,804 136,782
The maturity date of the bills payable is generaily between one to six months
29. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS AND ACCRUALS
Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Other payable for goods purchased on behalf of a customer 65,793 -
Trade and other deposits and receipts in advance 132,861 73,043
Accrued salaries, bonuses and staff benefits 26.533 19,758
Accrued sales commussion 22,980 16.623
Value acoed tax payable 12,656 15,393
Provis-an for a legal clam 1,359 2,841
Others 53,595 41,349

315,777 169,007
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30. BANK BORROWINGS

The bank borrowings comprise.

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Secured”
Bank loans 240,715 51,932
Trust receipt loans 6.181 -
246,896 51932
Unsecured
Bank loans 498,592 685,370
Other loans 136,657 96,774
635,249 792,144
882,145 844,076
The carry.ng amount is repayable as fo'lows .
W:thin one year (Note (a)) 796,990 841,153
In the second year 79,150 1,949
In the third to fifth year 6,005 974
882,145 844,076
Less: Amount due within one year shown under current
liabilities (Note (a)) (796,990) (841,153)
Amount due after one year shown under non-current liabilities 85,155 2,923
Total bank borrowings
- at fixed rate 178,409 75.000
- at floating rate 703,736 769,076

882,145 844,076
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30. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

The annual .nterest rates of the Group’s major bank borrow:.ngs at the end of report ng period were

as follows:
2009
Fixed rate borrowings 4.37% to 9.48% 486% t0 6.21%
Floating rate borrowings HIBOR plus a margin HIBOR plus a margin
from 1.13% to 2.00% from 1.00% to 1.95%
or EURIBOR plus or EURIBOR plus
a margin 1.75% amargin 1 75%
or LIBOR plus
a margin from
1.00% to 2.00%
Notes
(a) As at 31 March 2009, the Group was ir breach of certain financial covenants relating to profitability

and/or liquidity ratios prescribed under a syndicated bank loan agreement ana a bank loan agieement
Consequently, the total amount of HK$600,000.800 (compr:sing a syrdicated bank foan of
HK$500,000,000 and a bank loan of HK$100,000,000) became repayable upon demand as at 31 March
2009 and the non-current portion of these long teri loans of approximately HK$220,988,000 had been
reclassified to current ligbilivies

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the agent for the syndicated bank loan of HK$500,000,000 and
the Group have ertered into an agreement (“Amendment Agreement”) whereby the agent has agreed
to amend or waive certain financial covenants including the aforementioned financial covenants. As
such, the breach of relevant financial covenants was recti‘ied and the outstanding loan amount to the
extent of FK$183,813,000 was reclassitied to non-current liabiliies upon the Amendment Agreement
was signed

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Geoup entered into a supplementary agreement with a bank
in respect of the aforementioned bank loan of HX$100,000,000 whereby the entire ouistanding bank
loan will be repaid by installments with.n one year At the end of reporting period. the outstancing
amount of the bank loan amounted to HX$33,000,000 and was included in current liabilities

(b) As at 31 March 2010, the aggregate princ.pal outstanding amount of loans borrowed from banks
and financial institutions in the PRC with a term not exceeding one year amounted to approximately
HX$240,909,000 (2009: HK$113,686,000). During the year, the repayment of principals of these loans
amounted 10 approxi‘nately FK$39,886,000 (2009: HK$345,380,000)
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PROVISION FOR POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The movements of the provision during the year are as follows:

Group

2010 2009

HKS 000 HK$'000

Balance at beginning of year 10,503 -
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 44) - 17,741
Additions during the year 325 4,561
Payments during the year (1,014) (9,546)
Exchange reaiignment 840 (2.253)
Balance at end of year 10,654 10,503

The provision represents end-of-service payments payable to employees of a subsidiary {incorporated
and operating in Italy) attnbutable to their services rendered up to 31 December 2006 when they
leave the subsidiary, whether voluntarly or otherwise. The provision is set aside based on gross
wages or salary and revalued annua'ly by a fixed rate of 1.5% and by 75% of the official inflation
rate.. Effective from 1 January 2007, the laws governing the payments have been amended whereby
the subsidiary is required to make contributions for all its employees to a private pension fund or a
tund managed by National Social Security Insutute instead of accruing in the financial statements
Therefore, the provision as at 31 March 2010 represents the end-of-service payments accrued up
to 31 December 2006 plus the aforementionec adjustments less subsequent payments made to
relevant employees who left the subsid.ary after 31 December 2006

Management estimated that an amount of HK$1,185,000 (2009: HK$940,000) may be payable to
employees within one year based on the historical staff turnover ratio.

<
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32. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
ordinary shares
of HKS$0.1 each Amount
HK$'000
Authorised:
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 3,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and tully paid:
At 1 Apnl 2008 1,011,245,000 101,125
Shares issued upon exercise of share options (Note 43(a)) 1,590,000 159
At 31 March 2009 1,012,835,000 101,284
Shares 1ssued upon exeraise of share cptions (Note 43(a)) 8,620,000 862
At 31 March 2010 1,021,455,000 102,146
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Ourning the year, the Group had the following transaction with its related parties.
Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Operating lease rentals paid to:
Whneelfit Investment Limited 1,200 1,165

Wheelfit Investment Limited is 50% owned by Mr. Liu Stong Song who is the spouse of a
director of the Company, Ms. Chong Siw Yin.

The above transaction is continuing connected transact.on, 11 respect of which the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

b) The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnei during the
year was as ‘oltows:

Group

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000

Short term benefits (mainly include salaries and
allowances and bonus) 14,566 16.867
Snare-based payments - 102
Retirement fund contributions 281 327
14,847 17,296

(e} The Group had the foliowing amounts due (to)/from its related parties as at 31 March 2010

and 2009: .
Group
2010 2009

HKS 000 HK$'000
Holding company
Girgio Industries Ltd. (40,000) -
Associate
Fuxin Li Chang Steel and Iron Foundry Co., Ltd 340 {40,909)
Jointly controlled entity
Pang Cheng Co., Ltd. (Note) - 3.081

The balances are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment terms.

The amount due to holding company aiso constitutes a continuing connected transaction
which is exempt from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

The directors considered the above transactions and balances were made at normal
commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and on terms
no less favourable to the Group than those applicable to independent third parties.

Notre

The Group had disposed all of its shares in Pang Cheung Co.. Ltd. on 31 March 2010
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34,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group's financia' instruments as at 31 March 2010 and 2009 are categorised as {ol'ows:

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments 5,441 4,778
Loans and receivables
Amount due from an associate 340 -
Loan to a jointly controlled entity - 3,081
Bills and accounts receivable 493,508 351,737
Restricted bank balances 34,010 27,724
Other receivables 82,671 14,842
Cash and bank balances 398,074 330.265
1,008,603 727,649
Available-for-sale financial assets 10,418 : 9,091
Total financial assets 1,024,462 741,518
Financial liabikties at fair vaiue through protit or loss
Derivative financial instcuments 3.490 5,543
Other financial liabilities
Bills and accounts payable 366,962 161,427
Other payables and accruals 145,673 67,617
8ank borrowings 882,145 844,076
Amount due to holding company 40,000 -
Amount due to an associate - 40,908
1,434,780 1,114,029
Total financial liabilities 1,438,270 1,119,572

The Company only has “loans and receivables” and “other financial liabilities” which represent
the carryng amounts of 1ts current assets of HK$284,432,000 (2009: HK$288,750,000) and
current liabilities of HK$2,803,000 (2009: HK$2,542.000) respectively as detalled in the Company’s
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010,
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes to the financial statements
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate tnese risks
are set out below.

(a)

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates as discussed below. There has been no matenal change in
the Group's exposure ta market risks or the manner in which 1t manages and measures the

risks

(1)

(i)

interest rate risk

The Group has exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the
prevailing market interest rate on restricted bank balances, cash and bank balances
and bank borrowings which carry at prevailing market interest rates as shown in notes
23, 27 and 30 respectively. Management wil consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise

The Group's far value interest rate risk relates primarily to its derivative financial
instruments (see Note 22(b)) which are used to mitigate its exposure 1o cash ilow
interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysts below has been determined based on the exposure 10 interest
1ates for bank deposits and bank borrowings at the end of reporting period. For
variable rate borrowings and bank deposits. the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of iiability/asset outstanding at the end of reporiing period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease in HIBOR is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and al' other variables
were held constant, the Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 would
decrease/increase by HK$4,378,000/HK$6,067,000 (2009 loss increase/decrease by
HK$5,539,000/HK$6,677,000)

Currency risk

The functional currencies of the Group's respective principal subsidiaries are Renminbi
(“RMB"), Euro and Hong Kong dollars ("HKD"}. White most of the Group's operations
are transacted in the functional currencies of the respective group companies,
the Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies.
Management closely monitors this exposure in currency nisk and will consider hedging
significant exposure when necessary.

<
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34,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Cutrency risk (Continued)

As substantial amount of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are
denominated in the functional currencies of respective group companies, the directors
consider that the Group's foreign exchange risk mainly arises from intragroup
receivables (denominated in HKD) from group companies located in the PRC which
amounted to HK$157,798,000 (2009. HK$25,612,000) at the end of report:ng pericd

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following sensitivity analysis represents the aforementioned intra group
recewvables and adjusts their translation at the end of reporting period for a 5%
change In foreign currency rate where the functional currency of the relevant group
companies (i.e. RMB) weakens against HKD, and vice versa.

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
HKD (appreciates against RMB)
Decrease in profit for the year (8,258) (1.069)
HKD (depreciates against RMB)
Increase in profit for the year 8,258 1,069

(i) Equity price risk

The Group's exposure to equity price risk primarily arises from its available-for-sale
financial assets. As the carrying amount of the avauable-for-sale financial assets is not
significant, the directors consider the Group's exposure to equity price risk is minimal.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentiations of credit risk with exposure spreading over a
large number of counterparties and customers. The carrying amounts of the tota! financial
assets as disclosed above together with the guarantees given by the Group for its customers
as mentioned in note 35 represent the Group’s maximum exposure 1o credit risk. The Group
has a credit policy in place as described in notes S(b) and 21 to minimise credit nisk which is
monitored on an ongoing basis. Bank balances and fixed deposits are placed with reputable
banks which management believes are of high credit quality with insignificant credit risk.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

[19]

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy 15 to regularly monitor current and expected hquidity requirements and
its compliance with loan covenants, to ensure that .t maintains suficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
requirements in the short and longer term. If breach of loan covenants is anticipated, the
Group will communicate with the lenders to obtan waiver ard/or reciify the breach in due
course. The Company also monitors closely the cash flows of its subsidiaries. Generaliy, the
Company’s subsidiaries are required 1o obtain the Company's approval for activities such as
raising of loans and investment of surplus cash

The following table details the Group's contractual maturities of its financial liabilities at the
end of reporting period. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
and the earliest date on whicn the Group can be required to pay:

More than  More than
1year but 2 years but
On Within less than less than

demand 1 year 2 years 3 years Total
HKS'000 HK5'000 HKS000 HKS°000 HKS'000

As at 31 March 2010
Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fixed rates bank bor-owings - 184,628 - - 184,628
Floating rates bank borrowings - 621,290 80,932 6,009 708,231
Accounts payable 86,989 279,815 - - 366,804
8i's payable - 158 - - 158
Other payables and accruals - 145,673 - - 145,673
Amount due to the holding company - 40,000 - - 40,000

86,989 1,271,564 80,932 6,009 1,445,494

Derivative financial liabilities
- net settlement

Interest rate swap contract - 1,350 346 - 1,696
Put options - 8,505 8,930 - 17,435
- 9,855 9,276 - 19,131

86,989  1.281419 90,208 6,009 1,464,625

Financial guarantees issued
Max:mum amount guaranteed
(Note 35) - 153,409 - - 153,409

<




102

34,

(¢}

PUBLIC FILE

FOLIO 78
LK TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED » ANNUAL REPORT 2009/10
Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2010
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
More than  More than
1yeardut 2 yeass but
On Within less than tess than
demang 1 year 2 years 3 yeas Totd'
HKX$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000 HX$'000
As at 31 March 2009
Non-derivative financial liabilities
fixed rates bank borrowings - 77,494 - - 77.494
Fioating rates bank borrow.ngs 600,300 171,680 2,005 1,003 774,688
Accounts payatle 51,595 85,187 - - 136,782
B lis payzble - 24,645 - - 24,645
Other payables and accruals - 67,617 - - 67,617
Amourt due to an associate - 40,909 - ~ 40,909
651,595 467,532 2,005 1,003 1,122,135
Derivative financial liabilities
- net settlement
Interest rate swap contract - 1,350 1,350 346 3,046
Foreign exchange forward contract - 4,513 - - 4,513
Put opt ons - - 8,663 $.075 17,738
- 5.863 10,013 9,421 25,297
651,595 473,395 12,018 10424 1,147,432
fFinancial guarantees issued
Maximum amount guarenteed - 218,068 - - 218,068

The Company's contractua! undiscounted cash flows of its financial liab.'ties approx.mate
the carrying amount of other payables and accruals included in current liabilities, which
are payable within one year, as the effect of discounting is insigni:cant. The amount of

quarantees issued by the Company is disclosed in note 35S.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d)  Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that companies in the Group will be able 10
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity baiance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes the bank borrowings
disclosed in note 30, and equity atiributabie to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. The directors of the
Company also balance its overall capitai structure through tne payment of dividends, new
share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the repayment of existing debt. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year.

(e) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of the financial assets and financial “abilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted valuation models such as discounted cash flow analysis or using
prices from observable current market transactions.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels | to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 farr value measurements are those cerived from inputs other than guoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Levei 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
nputs).
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
As at 31 March 2010

Group

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Financial assets
Dervative financ.al instruments:

Call options - - 5,254 5,254
Interest rate swap contract - 187 - 187
Available-for-sale financial assets - 10,418 - 10,418
Total - 10,605 5,254 15,859

Financial liabilities
Derwvative financial instruments:

Put options - - (1.358) (1,358)
interest rate swap contract - (2,132) - (2,132)
Total - (2,132) (1.358) (3.490)

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets:

Group
Call options
HKS'000
Balance at 1 April 2009 4,744
Gains recognised in profit or loss 510

Balance at 31 March 2010 5,254
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e)  Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Leve: 3 far value measurements of f.nancial liab.lities:

Group
Put options
HK 5000
Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 (2,236)
Gains recognisea 1n profit or loss 878
Balance at 31 Marcn 2010 (1.358)

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Valuation

The ¢3!l and put options are measured at fair value estimated by a firm of independent
professional valuers in Hong Kong by using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model (note

22(a)).

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial instruments
carried at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
The amount of the outstanding loans granted by banks to
customers to purchase the Group’s products for which
guarantees have been given by the Group to the banks 106,651 71,278

The Group has prov.ded guarantees to banks in respect of credit facilities up to the maximum
amount of HK$153,409,000 (2009: HK$218,068,000) granted to certain customers of the Group
10 purchase its products. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, the Group is required to deposit
a portion of the sales proceeds received from these customers with the banks as mentioned in
note 36(b). Upon deifault in repayments by these customers, the Group 1s responsible to repay the
outstanding loan principals together with accrued interest and related costs owed by the defaulted
customers to the banks, and the Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related products. The Group's guarantee pertod starts from the dates of grant of the relevant bank
loans and ends when these customers have fuliy repaid their bank loans.

<
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36.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued)

The Company has provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities of its subsidiaries amounting
to approximately HK$794,185,000 (2009: HK$945,750,000). These facilities utilised by the
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2010 amounted to HK$515,448,000 (2009: HK$638,000,000).
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

(a) The carrying amounts of the assets of the Group pledged to secure its borrowings are as

follows:
Group

2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Restricted bank balances 193 6,086
Leasehold !and and builgings 206,286 68,363
Land use rights 81,914 11,400
Investment properties 7.290 5.220
Plant and machinery 24,044 9,631
319,727 100,700

(b) In addition to tne restricted bank balances disclosed in note 36(a), the Group also has
restricted bank balances to the extent of HK$33,817,000 (2009: HK$21,638.000) pledged
10 banks for credit faciliues granted 1o customers to purchase the Group's products as
mentioned in note 35

{c) The Company’s investments in certain subsidiaries with aggregate net asset value of
HK$176,666,000 {2009: HK$167,387,000) are pledged to a bank for banking facilitates
granted to its subsidiaries.
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COMMITMENTS
Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$'000
Capnai commitments in respect of acquis.tion of property,
plant and equipment:
Contracted but not provided for 50,510 57,715
Capital commitments in respect of capital contribution
in a jointy controlled entity - 15,405
Other commitments:
Contracted but not provided for 5,760 5,987
OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee
Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$000
Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases
tor buildings 14,106 14,653

At the end of reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments in
respect of buildings under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows

’

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$°'000
Leases payable:
Within one year 10.537 12,086
In the second to fifth year inclusive 36,880 32,452
47,417 44,538

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases generally run for an
initial period of one 1o five years, with an option 1o renew the leases after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals

107
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38.

OPERATING LEASES (Continued)
The Group as lessor

The Group leases out the investment properties and certain machinery under operating leases. The
ieases generally run for an initial period of one to five years, with an option to renew the leases
after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases include contingent
~entals

At the end of reporting period, the Group had contracted with lessees under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of builldings and machinery for the following future minimum leases
receivable

Group
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$°000
Leases receivable
Within one year 3,582 11,070
In the second to fifth year inclusive 544 1,288
4,126 12,358

The Company has no lease arrangement at the end of reporting period.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the plans are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of trustees. :

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are members of a state-managed
retirtement benefit plan operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan 15 10 make
tne spec:fied contributions.

The subsidiary incorporated and operating n Italy is required to make defined contributions for all
its employees to a private pension fund or a fund managed by National Social Security Institute
effective from 1 January 2007. For the employees’ services rendered up to 31 December 2006, the
subsidiary has made a provision of end-of-service payments payable to them as mentioned in note
N

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2010 2009
HKS'000 HK$°000

Investments in unlisted shares, at cost 65,000 65,000

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 Marcn 2010 are as follows:

Place of Issued and Attributable
Form of incorparation/ fully paié up equity
business establishment share capitalf interest held
Name of subsidiary structure and operations registered capital by the Group Pringipal activities
Subsidiaries directly held
by the Company
Bast fruth tncerorses Lied Coporeon BaishVugn Klards 2 rginezy sk 100%  Investeni heldng
U3$i eech
Cyberbey Pie t:¢ Corportion Grgapore 2 oidagry shares of 100%  Invesmient ho'd ng

1 eah

<
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40. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Detais of the Company’s principal subsid:aries as at 31 March 2010 are as follows: (Continued)

N ]
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Place of Issued and Attributable
Form of incorparation/ fully paid vp equity
business establishment share capital! interest held
Name of subsidiary structure and operations reqistered capital by the Group Principal activities
Subsidiaries indirectly held
by the Company
EDNLAKERR WhallyForegn-owaed  P2( US52,0C,000 100%  Sele of de-cast ag Machines
Cnongzng LK. Mithinery ("WiCi')
[N
SFNTISARARLE WwHO: 0 HK§20,000.000 100%  Mznyiagure and sale of
furn LK Norifiem Mechinery de-casing machiries
s
Gokd Milenrun lid. Copoianon Snsh Vg laads 1 oreay sazze of b3%1 100%  lvesiment holdng
Colz Prograss urived Cosandion 013 Kong 1 oidinary share ¢° 4§ 100%  hwesmen: holdrg
LK Mzthinasy Company Liniied Corporation Horg Kong 10,000,000 0:d.n8y 150% nvesirent nolding
sheres 07 HKS " each
LK Machaery Ircerrizional imized  Corporaion Hong Kong T ordnary share of HKS1 100% ol of de-casiing machines
nd pstic NRCIN
mocking rachires
DRAHABAR R Cospoiaren lawan 11,180,546 o:d sy 190% Saeof wexing Tatses
€ Mach rey Lorp shares ¢ W10 each 2 dolasuc ajzciion
moulding machines
LK. Mazhiney, b Ccrpotaron UsA 1,000 dhores wik 100% Sale of d2-cast ~g Machess
UiGedug 3nd plasiac inecion
mouldiig machines
) Wit 3( H(§56.500.000 100%  Marsfetiurs and a'e of
LK zchnery [Shenzher) Co. Lid * die-catting machines
NLRERKRWARLT Wi0E e 356,500,065 100%  Manudarture and sale of

LK *recsion Machirery Kuashar)
(o lid*

CNC mach res

[
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Deteils of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2010 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of Issued and Attributable
Form of incorporation! fully paid up equity
business establishment share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary structure and operations registered capital by the Group Principal activities
HGHEGANERD S W0z A( U32,006,830 10% Sale of Fecasurg machings
LK. Tzch {Tiaspn) Co Lid *
iwdy rosper Lim.ied [TEE Herg Keag 1 ey share of =KS° 100%  nves:—ent holdng
5 RURRLEAT Wit R 1$§.250.000 100%  Waneaciure and sale of
hegss LK Machrery Co Lid? e-(asing machines 3
plastic injeciion moule ng
rading
$EN0IBFARA W0 %40 19533,520,000 0% Marciacwe ad sa of
Nisgbo L K Technology Co Lid * ¢ g ma(hoes 3
i3 v 606n moaldrg
~agunes
Fower & gorzlmed  Coioraon Harg (org 2odayshees of 100%  Irvesiment holdng
HK§1 esch
IE-WRRLREE Wi0: %( 384,500,000 10%  Manuiaciuze 2 532 of
Shanghai Aiech Vachinery (o id * de-asting macknes
FUYRIAAALE WS #( M8127,60,000 1005 Mautsciure ans sale of
Shenzhen Leadwell Techno:agy € €-1350ng Matrnes 50
[CREN plasicir 0567
riachnes
DUSIBRUBAE Widi ?i( USE5 550000 100%  Manataciure ard sile of
Thorgshsn i € W, 1y (5.1 plasiic irjeczisn moutdng
médines
SFNIARDEARLD WiGE 3% HK§$0,600,000 100% Stel (a9
Feontida Steed Casting (2 Lid*
Wia Sl Corgorzton aal €5,03255!

The English name is made for identufication purpcse only.

-3 machingg
and eg. prer:

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results, assets, or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length

<
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41. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts are interest ‘ree, unsecured and repayable on demand

42. RESERVES

Group
Availatle
Snare Exchange forsale Property
Snare option Special  Huwcraation  Sututory invesiment revabuation  Dividend  Retained
presium Teserve wserve reerve e reserve reserve feserve profity ol
HK§ L0 +e§750 HES TS TR HEE S HI§T50 ST K006 [l l2eh2
thsie d tsie 2}

A1 Ron 208 23038 ‘2282 1Bm 9590 83.3¢ 185 229 328 343 25

i e varr - - - - - -
Bicunge 3 Herve arsa3en

Lan'alon of foregn oseral on - - - X 21 - - - - - 3507
Canon ‘e wy'ae changes <
'e fiuaas asses - - - - - x5 - - - %
T LN

- 415 KHZiH

4 amsli¥eonare

im0 asses - - - - - 3 - - - 39
Tola! corprhenswe acome

T ihe year - - - 888 . (g5 - - wim 134.943)
Ay fiom nsse of shares w000

xercae of sare 0puons x2 - - . - - - - 30
Tavle 10 shave oree

wpon everene of $°3°2 5210 87 &7 - - - - - - -
$haeCa8ed DAY TeRls - 183 - - - - - - 1]
Tansier 1o resaned polls

4200 1335€ 0% 3ha2 0p1 0% - AL - - - - - - 243 -
2005 final dvdend deciaced

BMINC - - - - - - (23 085 ag 123.239)
2203 niee dvcend ¢

(Msie 12) - - - - - - - - “osn BN
4131 March 2005 2.5 5,360 i3 106,81 3323 - 220 - TR %7
Prsit lor e verr - - - - - - - 2m 033
f2:unge Stteenzes a's 3 00

3% 3100 0f ‘xe3n opeatan . - - 44 . - - - - a0
G109 farvaue cungs ol

Y ET e lnge mse - - - - - '3 - - 13
Wia (oTpiehswwe nome

‘ol the veat - - - L 127 - - 0325 837
A5 0“0 8120 0' shares wpen

ereise of sareoalens 4855 - - - - - - - - 451
Tang'er 1o share ey

53T enercne of $53°¢ 0§16 43i3 431 - - - - - . - -
Tgns'er o resene - - - - m - - - ary -
At 31 March 2010 W 5.047 uwm 0.5 348 3 1208 - 0 i 3R1H
Notes
(1) Special reserve represents the difference between the share capital and capital reserve of the subsiciaries

acquired and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued for the acquisition at the time of
corporate rearganisation

{1y The statutory reserve Is reserve of the Company’s subsidiares operating as foreign investment enterprises
in the PRC. The transfer 1o this reserve is governed by relevant requlations of the PRC and the articles of
association of these subsidianes. Subject 1o certain restrictions set out .n the relevant PRC regulations,
the statutory reserve may be used to offset against accumulated losses or capitalised as paid up capital
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42. RESERVES (Continued)

Company
Retained
Share profits/
Share option Dividend {accumulated
premium reserve Reserve losses) Total

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000

At 1 Apnil 2008 234,008 12,282 23,285 2,604 272179
Arnising from issue of
shares upon exercise of

share options 9S00 - - - 900
Transfer to share premium upon

exercise of share options 847 (847) - - -
Share-based payments - 168 - - 168
Transfer to retained profits upon

lapse of share options - (2,243} - 2,243 -
Profit for the year - - - 4,023 4,023
Payment of dividends - - (23,285) (4.061) (27.346)
At 31 March 2009 235,755 9,360 - 4,809 249,924

Ar.sing from issue of
shares upon exercise of

share options 4,879 - - - 4,879
Transier to share premium upon

exercise of share options 4,313 (4,313) - - -
Loss for the year - - - (10,320) (10,320)
At 31 March 2010 244,947 5.047 - (5.511) 244,483

Tne consolidated protit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company includes a loss of
HK$10,320,000 (2009: HK$5,977,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.
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43. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(a)  Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

A Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme {further details of which are set out in the Company's
directors’ report) was adopted pursuant to a writen resolution of the sole shareholder of
the Company passed on 23 September 2006. Details of the movements of options granted
under the Pre-tPO Share Option Scheme during the year are as foliows:

Number of shares subject to options

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Exercised as at
Category of grantee price Exercise period 1 April 2009 during the year 31 March 2010
HKS
Directors 0.666 16 April 2007 - 7,600,000 (1,600,000) 6,000,000
15 Ociober 2016
Employees 0666 i6 Apnl 2007 - 11,630,000 {7.020,000) 4,010,000
15 October 2016
18,630,000 (8,620,000} 10,010,000
Number of shares subject to options
Redassification Outstanding
Outstanding during Lapsed Exercised aisat
Exercise st the year during during 31 March
Category of grantee price  Exercise period 1 Agril 2008 {Note] the year the year 2009
HK§
Dueciors 0.656 6 apn 2007 - 10,000,000 $00060  {2,000,00) - 7.500.05%
15 Oczoder 2016
Emp.oyees 0665 16 Agrf 2007 - 1487 500 (662,000 {1.¢6750% (1590008 11,030,000
15 0ciober 20°6
26 881,500 - {ES61500 (1350000  18630.000

Note: Ms. Wong Pui Chun was appointed as executive director on 7 November 2008. The 600,000
snare options heid by her were reclass:fied from the category of employee to director during the
year ended 31 March 2009
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43. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continyed)

During the year, 8,620,000 (2009: 1,590,000) share options were exercised. The weighted
average closing price on the dates on which the options were exercised was HK$1.68 (2009
HK$0.95)

Each of the grantees to whom options were granted under the Pre-IPQ Option Scheme
woulc de subject to the following restrictions on the exercise of the options granted to tim/
her.

Maximum cumulative

Period (as from 16 October 2006, the date on which percentage of the shares
the shares of the Company commenced trading on the under option exercisable
Stock Exchange, the “Listing Date”) by the grantee
First six months 0%
Second six months 33%
Third six months 66%
For the remaining option peniod 100%

The fair value of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme amounting
to HK$18,480,000 was determined at the Listing Date under the Binominal Option Pricing
Mode!.

The amount recognised by the Group as an expense for the year ended 31 March 2009 was
HK$168,000 in relation to share options granted by the Company. All options granted had
vested and been recognised as expenses as at 31 March 2009.

Save as disclosed above, no further options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme as the right to do so had ended on the day on which the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 September 2006 was registered with the Registrar of Companies in Hong
Kong.

Share Option Scheme

Another share option scheme (‘urther details of which are set out in the Company's directors’
report) i1s also adopted pursuant to the written resolution passed by the sole shareholder
of the Company on 23 September 2006. No options were granted under the share option
scheme since its date of adoption and up to 31 March 2010

<
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44. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 2 April 2008, the Group completed the acquisition of 70% of the issued snare capital of Idra
S.r.l for a consideration of €0.70 (HK$ equivalent 8.53), further details of which are set out in the
Company’s circutar dated 20 March 2008 Idra S.r.l is principally engaged in the design, manufacture
and sale of die-casting machines and equipment

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ldra S.r.l acquired as at the date of
acquisition, which have no significant differences from therr respective carrying amounts, are as
follows:

2009
HK$'000
Net assets acauired:

Intangible assets 13,524
Property, plant and equipment 68,996
Inventories 132,469
B.lls and accounts receivable 124,189
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 40,194
Cash and bank balances 10,783
Bills and accounts payable (96,216)
Other payables, deposits and accruals {95.695)
Bank borrowings {151,784)
Provis.on for post-employment benefits (17.741)
M.nonity interest (8.6186)
Attributable net assets acquired by the Group 20,103
Direct expenses relating to the acquisition (5,176)
Net fair values of put options and call options 2,525
Purchase consideration -
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over cost of acquisition 17.452

Net cash inflow/(outilow) arising on acquisition
Cash consideration paid (€0.70) -
Direct expenses relating to the acquisition (5,176)
Casn and bank balances acquired 10,783

5.607
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ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The excess of the far value of attributable net assets acquired over tne cost of acquisition of
HK$17,452,000 (i.e negative goodwill) was recognised as other gain in the income statement for
the year ended 31 March 2009. Management considered the negative goodwill was resulted from a
bargain purchase

Subsequent 10 the acquisition, the Group afso subscribed for 70% of the new issued share capital
ot idra S.r.l for a cash consideration of €3,500,000 (HK$ equivalent 41,300,000) during the year
enged 31 March 2009

Idra S.r.l contributed loss of HK$28,404,000 to the Group's loss for the year ended 31 March
2009 between tne date of acquisition and tne end of reporting period of 31 March 2009 1f the
acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2008, there 1s no matenal change to the Group's
revenue and loss {or the year ended 31 Marcn 2009

T

<
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Year ended 31 March

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Turnover 1,408,364 1,192,487 1,261,972 969,375 851,519
Profit/(loss) before income taxes 27,142 (47,898) 131,810 69,298 117,876
Income taxes (23,907) (4.315) (16.389) (9.023) (10,260)
Profit/(loss) for the year 3.235 (52,213) 115,421 60.275 107.616

Profiv(loss) attributable o

Owners of the Company 20,323 (43,671) 115,421 60,275 107,616
Minority interests (17.088) (8,542) - - -
3,235 (52,213) 115,421 60,275 107,616

As at 31 March

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Assets and nabilities

Total assets 2,520,258 2,103,281 1,685,602 1,383,127 1,057.816
Total liabilities (1,631,486) (1,235,654) (771,304) (630,513} (583,874)
888,772 867,627 914,298 752,614 473,942

Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 885,329 853,231 914,298 752,614 473,942
Minority interests 3,443 14,396 - - -
888,772 867,627 914,298 752,614 473,942

The results and summary of assets and liabilities for the year ended 31 March 2006, which were extracted
from the Company’s prospectus dated 29 September 2006 have been prepared on a combined basis to
present the results of the Group as if the group structure had been in existence throughout that year.
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